

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

# Factors Affecting Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in the United States

Chidoziri Chibundu Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations
Part of the Epidemiology Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Chidoziri Constantine Chibundu

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Frazier Beatty, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Xianbin Li, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Kai Stewart, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2018

# Abstract

Factors Affecting Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in the

United States

by

Chidoziri Constantine Chibundu

MSc, University of Ibadan Nigeria, 2005

B.Pharm, University of Nigeria Nsukka, 1999

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2018

Abstract

Despite the evidence that colorectal cancer screening is effective in reducing the incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer, racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening persist in the United States. African-born immigrants in the United States have lower colorectal cancer screening rates than native-born Americans. The purpose of this quantitative, retrospective, cross-sectional study was to examine how family income, health insurance status, language of interview, length of stay in the United States, perceived health status, level of education, and having a usual place for medical care affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. The immigrant health services utilization model provided the framework for the study. Secondary data collected in 2010, 2013, and 2015 through the National Health Interview Survey from 349 African-born immigrants age 40 years and above were analyzed using logistic regression and a chi-square test of independence. A stratified multistage sampling procedure was used to select the sample for the study. Results showed a significant association between colorectal cancer screening and health insurance status, length of stay in the United States, perceived health status, and having a usual place for medical care. However, no association was found between colorectal cancer screening and family income, education level, and interview language. Findings may be used to impact positive social change and guide policy decisions on colorectal cancer preventive interventions targeting African-born immigrants living in the United States.

# Factors Affecting Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in the

United States

by

Chidoziri Constantine Chibundu

MSc, University of Ibadan, 2005 B.Pharm, University of Nigeria Nsukka, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2018

# Dedication

This work is dedicated to God almighty that preserved my life until this moment. To my father, Ephraim Chibundu, of blessed memory who encouraged me and provided so much sacrifice to ensure that I advanced in my academic pursuits. To my beloved wife who encouraged and helped me overcome several difficulties that I encountered on my academic journey. To men and women who did not advance their education because of their poor financial background.

## Acknowledgments

The guidance and insight that Dr. Frazier Beatty, my committee chair, provided me during the dissertation process were invaluable. Thank you so much for your excellent input, and for steering this dissertation in the right direction. I appreciate Dr. Xianbin Li for the critique of the work to ensure its sound quality. Thanks for all you did. I give many thanks to Dr. Kai Stewart, the university research reviewer, for a careful review of my work. I have confidence in the quality of my study because of the great job you did. I forever remain grateful to my parents for the discipline they inculcated in me while I was growing. Their advice and parental guidance helped point me in the right direction as a young man. Their sacrifice helped see me through my first degree, which formed a foundation for my pursuit of this doctoral degree.

My wife, Peace Chibundu, has been exceptional in giving me the needed support and encouragement throughout this academic journey. She willingly sacrificed several family times on the altar of the pursuit of this doctoral degree to ensure I concentrated on my studies. Indeed, all of the strength came from her, but the weaknesses are mine. I deeply appreciate her. I want to thank my children, Chisom, Prevailer, and Kelechi, for bearing with my absence at family times, sports events, and picnics. Thank you for your understanding. I hope to make up the time stolen from you because of my studies. I also want to thank other family members, friends, and colleagues, especially Emenike Akwafuo, Yemi Adejinmi, Ugochukwu Azubike, and others who contributed in one way or another to the successful completion of this work.

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of Study	6
Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
Theoretical Framework	8
Nature of the Study	
Definition of Terms	
Assumptions	11
Limitations	
Scope and Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	
Summary	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Theoretical Framework	17
Methodologies Used in Previous Studies	
Cancer Overview	
Colorectal Cancer	
Description	

# Table of Contents

Types of Colorectal Cancer	33
Tumoregenesis	34
Risk Factors	35
Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer	41
Colorectal Cancer Screening	45
Flexible Sigmoidoscopy	46
Colonoscopy	47
Double Contrast Barium Enema	48
Computed Tomographic Colonography(CTC)	49
Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening in the United States	49
Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening Among Native-Born and Foreign-	
Born Populations in the United States	53
Colorectal Cancer Screening in Africa and Its Implication for the Study	55
Summary	57
Chapter 3: Research Method	58
Type of Study and Design	59
Setting and Sampling Technique	60
Profile of African Immigrants in the United States	61
Sample Size Determination	62
Instrumentation and Data Collection Method	63
Reliability and Validity of Instrument	64
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	65

Study Variables	65
Dependent Variable	65
Independent Variables	66
Data Analysis Plan	68
Statistical Test for Research Hypothesis	68
Threat to Validity	74
Ethical Considerations	75
Summary	75
Chapter 4: Results	76
Research Questions and Hypotheses	77
Demographic and Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Population	78
Results of Analysis	82
Socioeconomic Status and Colorectal Cancer Screening	85
Acculturation and Colorectal Cancer Screening	88
Perception of Health Status and Colorectal Cancer Screening	91
Access to Health Care and Colorectal Cancer Screening	92
Multinomial Logistic Regression	95
Summary	98
Interpretation of Findings	101
Finding 1: Low Colorectal Cancer Screening Prevalence Among African-	
Born Immigrants in the United States	102

Finding 2: Socioeconomic Status Is Not Significantly Associated With	
Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in	
the United States	103
Finding 3: Acculturation Is Significantly Associated With Colorectal	
Cancer Screening Among African-born Immigrants in the United	
States	105
Finding 4: Perception of Health Status Is Significantly Associated With	
Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in	
the United States	107
Finding 5: Access to Health Care Is Significantly Associated With	
Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-born Immigrants in	
the United States	108
Limitation of the study	110
Recommendations	112
Social Change Implication	113
Conclusion	115
References	117
Appendix A: Walden Institutional Review Board Approval	147

# List of Tables

Table 1	Distribution of Demographics and Individual Factors	1
Table 2	Chi-Square Test of Independence of the Dependent and Independent Variables	
		3
Table 3	Results of Simple Logistic Regression Analysis of Independent Variables and	
Со	lorectal Cancer Testing	4
Table 4	Results of Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis of Independent Variables and	
Со	lorectal Cancer Testing9	6

# List of Figures

Figure 1. An analytical framework for immigrant health services utilization	27
Figure 2. A diagram showing the three segments of the colorectum	33

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer worldwide, and it ranks fourth among causes of cancer-related deaths, with an expected increase of 2.2 million new cases and 1.1 million deaths from colorectal cancer by 2030 (Arnold et al., 2017). In both men and women living in the United States, colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer, and the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths (American Cancer Society [ACS], n.d.). In the United States, about 135,430 people will be diagnosed with colorectal cancer in 2017, and approximately 50,260 people will die from the disease in the same year (ACS, n.d.). Several studies have shown that screening for early detection and removal of precancerous polyps is effective in decreasing both incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.; Nemeth, Jenkins, Nietert, & Ornstein, 2011). Concerted public health effort has led to increases in colorectal cancer screening rates, yet racial disparities in colorectal cancer screening persist in the United States (Shavers, Jackson, & Sheppard, 2010; Wallace & Suzuki, 2012). Racial minorities have lower colorectal cancer screening rates than non-Hispanic Whites in the United States (ACS, n.d.; Klabunde et al., 2011). Also, immigrant populations living in the United States have lower screening rates than native-born Americans (Goel et al., 2003; Reves & Miranda, 2015; Shahidi, Homayoo, & Cheung, 2013; Shih, Elting, & Levin, 2008) and may be at a disadvantage in terms of early detection and removal of precancerous polyps. African-born immigrants living in the United States emigrate from the African continent where colorectal cancer is considered a rarity, and routine colorectal cancer screening is not a common practice (Laiyemo et al., 2016). As Africanborn immigrants become acculturated, the adoption of a Western lifestyle and dietary patterns associated with increased colorectal cancer risks creates the need for increased colorectal cancer screening. The objective of this study was to examine factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. The study was significant because its findings may be useful in the design of interventions that may help increase colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants, which may help decrease colorectal cancer incidence and mortality among the immigrant population and U.S. population. Chapter 1 includes the background, problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, theoretical basis for the study, significance of the study, nature of the study, definitions of terms, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitations, and a summary.

## Background

Colorectal cancer disease results when abnormal cells in the colon and rectum multiply and invade surrounding cells and tissues with devastating health effects (ACS, n.d.; National Cancer Institute [NCI], n.d.-a). Colorectal cancer contributes to morbidity and mortality in the United States and other parts of the World (Gellad & Provenzale, 2010). In the United States, there are racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality, with African Americans and Alaska Natives recording the highest incidence rates and Asian/Pacific Islanders recording the lowest rates (ACS, n.d.). Also, racial minorities and immigrant populations are more likely to be diagnosed with late-stage colorectal cancer with a lower chance of survival (Choe, Koepsell, Heagerty, & Taylor, 2005; Marcella & Miller, 2001; Papageorge, Carchman, & Kennedy, 2016; Siegel, Naishadham, & Jemal, 2012). Studies have shown that colorectal cancer screening is effective in reducing colorectal cancer incidence and mortality (D. Davis et al., 2011), and early detection and removal of precancerous polyps has been shown to prevent development to invasive cancer and decrease the mortality outcome (Toll et al., 2011). According to Edward et al. (2010) and Vogeelar et al. (2006), modeling studies suggested that more impact in reducing colorectal cancer deaths can be achieved through increased screening than by reduction of colorectal cancer risks.

Average-risk individuals begin colorectal screening at age 50 while those who are at increased risk can start screening at an earlier age (ACS, n.d.). The options recommended by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) for colorectal cancer screening include (a) flexible sigmoidoscopy that is done every 5 years, (b) colonoscopy that is conducted every 10 years, (c) double-contrast barium enema that is performed every 5 years, and (d) computed tomographic colonography that is done once in 5 years; the fecal occult blood test and stool DNA test carried out yearly and used primarily for cancer detection can also be used to detect some precancerous polyps (ACS, n.d.). However, in the United States, colonoscopy remains the most commonly used screening test for colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.).

Despite the benefits of increased colorectal cancer screening, racial disparities in colorectal cancer screening persist in the United States (ACS, n.d.; Klabunde et al., 2011; Shahidi et al., 2013). Studies have shown that foreign-born populations have lower colorectal cancer screening rates than native-born Americans (ACS, n.d.; Goel et al., 2003; Reyes & Mirinda, 2015; Shahidi et al., 2013; Shih et al., 2008). Further, studies

have revealed that foreign-born status is a barrier to colorectal cancer screening in the United States (Goel et al., 2003; Reyes & Mirinda, 2015). The implication is that immigrant populations are not taking advantage of screening services available in the United States where they are resident, so they may suffer from colorectal cancer and its associated poor health outcomes and mortality. Some studies have addressed factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among specific immigrant populations in the United States (Kim, Chapman, & Vallina, 2012; Ladabaum et al., 2014; Lee & Lee, 2013; Talaat, 2015), but no known study has focused on African-born immigrants living in the United States. The current study's outcome will add to literature, and also has the potential of generating knowledge that may be essential for the design of colorectal cancer preventive interventions that can be tailored to African-born immigrants living in the United States whose population is continually increasing.

## **Problem Statement**

Roughly 136,000 cases of colorectal cancer are diagnosed annually, and the disease claims nearly 51,000 lives yearly in the United States (ACS, n.d.; Centers for Disease Prevention and Control [CDC], n.d.-a). One out of 22 men and 1 out of 24 women in the United States will be diagnosed with colorectal cancer in their lifetime (ACS, n.d.). Colorectal cancer care costs in the United States are between \$4.5 billion to \$9.6 billion in annually and could increase to \$14 billion by 2020 if the current trend in the disease burden continues (Yabroff, Lund, Kepka, & Mariotto, 2011; Yabroff et al., 2009). Although colorectal cancer screening has been shown to be effective in reducing the incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer, racial and ethnic disparity in

colorectal cancer screening persists in the United States (CDC, n.d.-b; Shavers et al., 2010; Wallace & Suzuki, 2012). In the United States, non-Hispanic Whites have higher colorectal cancer screening rates than non-Hispanic Blacks, Hispanics, and other racial minorities (ACS, n.d; CDC, n.d.-b; Klabunde et al., 2011). Immigrant populations in the United States have lower screening rates for colorectal cancer and other cancers compared to Americans born in the United States (ACS, n.d.; Goel et al., 2003; Maxwell, Crespi, Antonio, & Lu, 2010; Reyes & Miranda, 2015; Shih et al., 2008). According to the ACS (n.d.), not only are U.S. immigrant populations most likely to have low screening rates, they are least likely to be aware of the need for colorectal cancer screening. The low rate of colorectal cancer screening implies that opportunity for colorectal cancer prevention is often missed among U.S. immigrant populations.

Factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among U.S. immigrant populations have been the subject of studies that focused on Hispanics, Asian-Americans, Pacific Islanders, and other minorities (Gorin & Heck, 2005; Kim et al., 2012; Lee & Lee, 2013), but no study has focused on immigrants from African countries. African-born immigrants living in the United States are part of the African American population known to have lower screening rates and higher incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer relative to Whites (ACS, n.d.; Lansdorp-Vogelaar et al., 2012), as African-born Blacks living in the United States are usually categorized along with American-born Blacks as African Americans in public health studies. In addition to the finding that foreign birthplace is a barrier to colorectal cancer screening (ACS, n.d.; Goel et al., 2003; Shih et al., 2008), African-born immigrants living in the United States may represent a segment of the U.S. population with low rates of colorectal cancer screening. According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2014), the population of African born immigrants living in the United States has grown to over 1.7 million between 2008 and 2012, with the number doubling each decade since 1970. Given the high growth rate of the population of African-born immigrants in the United States, understanding colorectal cancer screening barriers and facilitators among them is warranted and critical for the development of interventions and colorectal cancer prevention strategies specific to the rapidly growing population.

# **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. I assessed the relationship between colorectal cancer screening and factors including education level, health insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, perceived health status, family income, length of stay in the United States, and interview language. The dependent variable was ever had colonoscopy. The independent variables were education level, health insurance status, length of stay in the United States, language of interview, family income, perceived health status, and having a usual place for medical care. The population was African-born immigrants living in the United States who were 40 years old and above at the time of the study.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

I designed the research questions and hypotheses to examine how socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income, acculturation measured by interview language and length of stay in the United States, access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status, and perceived health status influenced colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 1: Is socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  1: There is no association between socioeconomic status measured by the level of education and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 1: There is an association between socioeconomic status measured by the level of education and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 2: Is acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and interview language associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  2: There is no association between acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and interview language and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 2: There is an association between acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 3: Is perceived health status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  3: There is no association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 3: There is an association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 4: Is access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  4: There is no association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Ha 4: There is an association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework for the study was the immigrant health services utilization model (see Yang & Hwang, 2016). This theory builds on Andersen's widely used health behavior model to explain the pattern of immigrants' health services

utilization (see Andersen, 1995). The immigrant health services utilization model discusses the need for care, resources, predisposing factors, and macrostructural/contextual factors specific to immigrants to offer an understanding of the utilization of health care services by immigrants. According to Yang and Hwang (2016), the need for care includes an individual's perception of the need to utilize health services and is measured by health status, which could be professionally or self-rated. Whereas resources consist of the means by which an individual is empowered to receive or access health services, predisposing factors are conditions that indicate an individual's inclination to use health services; macrostructural and contextual factors are conditions at the community level beyond an individual's control (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Yang and Hwang explain how the above factors influence the use of health services by immigrant populations in specific ways. Colorectal cancer screening is a preventive public health intervention measure geared toward reduction of colorectal cancer incidence and mortality, and its utilization among immigrant populations can be affected by several factors discussed under the different domains presented in the model (see Yang & Hwang, 2016). Therefore, the immigrant health services utilization model can be applied in studying the possible factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States. The theoretical framework is described in greater detail in Chapter 2.

#### Nature of the Study

I conducted this quantitative cross-sectional study in which I extracted and analyzed secondary data collected by the NHIS in 2010, 2013, and 2015 to determine whether there were significant associations between the outcome variable and independent variables. Getting screened for colorectal cancer was the dependent variable, while education level, health insurance status, length of stay in the United States, interview language, family income, perceived health status, and having a usual place for medical care were the independent variables. The target population was men and women age 40 years and above, who are African-born immigrants living in the United States. The cross-sectional design enabled me to estimate the prevalence of the independent variables in the population and describe how they related to the dependent variable during the period the data were collected. The demographics of the participants and information on the variables were represented numerically in the secondary data.

# **Definition of Terms**

*Access to healthcare*: Timely use of health care services to achieve the best possible health outcomes (Healthy People 2020, n.d.).

*Acculturation*: A process in which an individual or a group of people from a culture assimilate and adopt a different lifestyle after a continuous first-hand contact with another culture (Johnson, Carroll, Fulda, Cardarelli, & Cardarelli, 2010).

*African immigrant*: A person who was born in one of the countries of Africa who left Africa to live in another country such as the United States.

*Educational level*: The number of years an individual put into school attendance for formal learning.

*Immigrant*: A person who left the country of birth to live in another country like the United States.

*Laparotomy*: A surgical procedure that involves a large incision through the abdominal wall that enables access to the abdominal cavity.

Melanocytes: Specialized skin cells that produce melanin.

*Perceived health status*: A measure of how people view their state of health as excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor (National Center for Health Statistics, n.d.).

*Socioeconomic status*: The social class or standing of an individual or a group which can be measured by a combination of income, education, and occupation (American Psychological Association, n.d.).

# Assumptions

Because the NHIS questionnaire for collection of data on colorectal cancer was validated, I assumed that the self-reported data collected from the participants on variables of interest in this study were accurate and reliable. Also, I assumed that there was no interviewer bias, that the coding of data was done to give a precise reflection of data collected from the respondents, and that any missing data were random. Further, I assumed that the African-born immigrants living in the United States are a homogenous group even though they emigrated from different countries in Africa and live in various geographical regions of the United States.

# Limitations

The study was based on secondary data from NHIS, and there were no changes made to the collected data. Recall bias was a possibility in this study because the study respondents may not have given accurate answers to the questions that were asked because of possible difficulty in remembering previous events. Also, the African-born immigrant population living in the United States was treated as one homogenous group, even though the African continent is made up of 57 countries with differences among the people, which could have resulted in variations in the association between the dependent and independent variables of interest based on the country of origin. There was no exploration of the differences among the population of African-born immigrants from different African countries in this study.

## **Scope and Delimitations**

The study was limited to African-born immigrants age 40 years and above who were living in the United States and participated in the interview conducted by the NHIS in 2010, 2013, and 2015. The survey was conducted on only African-born immigrants who were resident in the United States and were non-institutionalized at the time. African descendants born in the United States were excluded from the study. Findings may be useful in understanding factors affecting colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

## Significance of the Study

The study was significant because the findings added to the literature on colorectal cancer screening by providing information on factors that affect colorectal

cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. Study findings may improve the understanding of specific barriers to and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States, which is critical to the development of interventions that may lead to increased rate of colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. Colorectal cancer is preventable and treatable when diagnosed at the early stage (CDC, n.d.-b; Toll et al., 2011). Increased colorectal cancer screening resulting from appropriate public health interventions among African-born immigrants in the United States may lead to increased chance of diagnosing colorectal cancer at early stages. Early diagnosis of colorectal cancer may lead to an overall decreased cost of treating the disease, which is approximately \$29,196 per Medicare patient in the United States, with the cost increasing as the stage of diagnosis advances (Luo, Bradley, Dahman, & Gardiner, 2009).

Colonoscopic polypectomy results in about 53% reduction in mortality from colorectal cancer (Zauber et al., 2012). Implementing appropriate interventions shaped by the findings from this study may result in reduced morbidity and mortality from colorectal cancer. Findings may ensure that African-born immigrants who are part of the Black population in the United States with the highest colorectal cancer incidence and mortality rates (ACS, n.d.), do not endure the consequences of the disease. Improved health among African-born immigrants living in the United States may lead to improved health of the U.S. population because the health of a country is influenced by the choices individuals and groups make (Healthy People 2020, n.d.).

#### Summary

In the United States, colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer diagnosed in both men and women (ACS, n.d.; Nemeth et al., 2011), and it contributes significantly to morbidity and mortality in the United States and other parts of the world (ACS, n.d.). Studies have shown that colorectal cancer screening is effective in reducing colorectal cancer incidence and mortality (D. Davis et al., 2011), and early detection and removal of precancerous polyps has been shown to prevent its development to invasive cancer and decrease the mortality outcome (CDC, n.d.-b; Toll et al., 2011). Although colorectal cancer screening plays a crucial role in reducing colorectal cancer-related morbidity and mortality, racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening persist in the United States (Shavers et al., 2010; Wallace & Suzuki, 2012). U.S. immigrant populations have lower colorectal cancer screening rates than native-born Americans (ACS, n.d.; Goel et al., 2003; Maxwell et al., 2010; Reves & Miranda, 2015; Shih et al., 2008), and foreignborn status has been shown to be a barrier to colorectal cancer screening (Goel et al., 2003). Understanding factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among specific immigrant populations is a critical step toward taking policy decisions that may help narrow the colorectal cancer screening disparities that exist among U.S. immigrant populations and native-born Americans.

The purpose of the study was to examine the association between colorectal cancer screening and acculturation, socioeconomic status, perceived health status, and access to health care among African-born immigrants living in the United States. The theoretical basis for the study was the immigrant health services utilization model, which discusses the need for care, resources, predisposing factors and

macrostructural/contextual factors specific to immigrants to offer an understanding of the utilization of health care services by immigrants. In Chapter 2, I review the existing literature on colorectal cancer and colorectal cancer screening to affirm the relevance of the study. I also provide a detailed description of the immigrant health services utilization model and concepts related to the research topic.

## Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this study was to examine factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. A review of prior research was imperative for a proper understanding of the factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. Studies have shown that U.S. immigrant populations have lower colorectal screening rates than native-born Americans, and they are also among those who are least likely to be aware of the need for colorectal cancer screening (ACS, n.d.). Low screening rates among the U.S. immigrant population means that opportunities for early diagnosis and treatment are often missed. African-born immigrants are part of the African American population in the United States that has low screening rates and a high incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.; Lansdorp-Vogelaar et al., 2012). African-born immigrants come from a continent where colorectal cancer is considered a rarity, and there is a low level of awareness of the disease among the populace (Busolo & Woodgate, 2015). Cancer prevention efforts by various national governments are deficient as there is no organized population-based colorectal cancer screening program in any country in Africa (Laiyemo et al., 2016). These circumstances may negatively impact African-born immigrants' perception of the need to get screened for colorectal cancer while living in the United States. Studies that can be applied to increase colorectal cancer screening among the immigrant population are needed.

In this literature review, I describe the theoretical framework for the study, colorectal cancer disease and the risk factors, epidemiology of colorectal cancer in the United States and Africa, colorectal cancer screening and related concepts, and disparities in colorectal cancer screening in the United States and underlying factors. I also describe disparities in colorectal cancer screening among foreign-born populations and nativeborn Americans, and colorectal cancer screening in Africa. The synthesis of the underlying theories and facts related to colorectal cancer and colorectal cancer screening helped to confirm the need for the study.

To locate relevant journal articles needed for the review of the literature, I used search engines such as Google Scholar, MEDLINE simultaneous search, Science Direct, CINAHL, and MEDLINE. The key words and compound phrases used in the search include *racial disparities in colorectal cancer screening, colorectal cancer screening among immigrants, factors affecting colon cancer screening, health disparities, colorectal cancer screening among African immigrants in the United States, colorectal cancer, and screening among Africans*. Most of the materials used for the literature review were articles from peer-reviewed journals published not more than 5 years from the time of the study.

## **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical basis for this study was the immigrant health services utilization model (see Yang & Hwang, 2016). The model builds on Andersen's (1995) health behavioral Model to explain disparities in health services utilization among immigrant populations by taking into account factors that are pertinent to immigrants (see Andersen,

1995). According to Yang and Hwang (2016), Andersen's health behavioral model was first proposed in 1968 and had undergone several phases of revisions that gave rise to Andersen's 1995 model. Andersen used three clusters of factors to explain people's health services utilization: (a) predisposition to use health service, which is shaped by demographics, social structure, and health beliefs; (b) enabling factors, which include personal or family resources (income, regular source of care, and health insurance) and community resources (health personnel and facilities); and (c) need for care, which includes perceived needs and professionally evaluated needs. The Andersen's health behavioral model holds that in addition to the predisposition to use health services, enabling factors, community resources, the health care system, and environmental factors also predict health services utilization. The model has been found to be effective in predicting health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016) and has been used to study health services utilization among populations such as homeless people (Stein, Andersen, & Gelberg, 2007), African American women (Copeland & Butler, 2007), immigrants (Bustamante et al., 2012) and rural dwellers (Slifkin, 2002). According to Yang and Hwang, although Andersen's health behavioral model has been used to study immigrants, the studies were done by adding a few predictors that are germane to immigrants without proposing a theoretical framework that accounted for immigrants' health services utilization. To guide analysis of immigrant health services utilization and to help gain a better understanding of immigrant health services utilization, Yang and Hwang proposed immigrant health services utilization model as a theoretical framework to explain immigrant health services utilization.

The immigrant health services utilization model retains the ideas of Andersen's (1995) health behavioral model but also takes into account factors that are pertinent to immigrants (see Yang and Hwang, 2016). The model holds that need for care, enabling factors, and predisposing factors proposed by Andersen as factors that predict health services utilization are cogent but need to be specified for immigrants. Yang and Hwang also noted that macrostructural or contextual factors should be singled out and emphasized and that the elucidation of the direct and indirect effects of need for care, predisposing factors, enabling factors, and macrostructural or contextual factors on health services utilization is needed. However, Yang and Hwang stated that unlike Andersen's model that covers health behavior in general and personal health practices, the outcome variable in the immigrant health services utilization model is limited to use of health services provided by health professionals and does not include personal health practices as an outcome variable. Yang and Hwang explained factors that predict immigrant health services utilization at general and immigrant specific levels as below.

Need for care is one of the factors that determine health services utilization, and there are general and specific need factors for immigrants (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Need for care is one of the factors associated with health care seeking activities, medication use, and health services utilization (Andersen, 1995; Mellner & Lundberg, 2003) and it has been found to be a strong predictor of health services utilization (Giltay, Vollaard, & Kromhout, 2012). According to Andersen (1995), the need for care is measured by health status which can either be self-rated or professionally evaluated. According to Yang and Hwang, immigrants with better health status are less likely to use health services compared to those with worse health status because of less need for health services. This position is consistent with the finding that there is an inverse relationship between the use of health services and good health status (Blackwell, Martinez, Gentleman, Sanmartin, & Berthelot, 2009; Dhingra, Zack, Strine, Pearson, & Balluz, 2010).

There are need factors that are specific to immigrants (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Immigrants are healthier than natives at the time of migration because of the practice of selecting healthy individuals for immigration, a phenomenon known as healthy migrant effect (Antecol & Bedard, 2006; McDonald & Kennedy, 2004). However, Yang and Hwang argued that immigrants have special needs for healthcare because of certain types of health problems related to the health environment of their native countries and diseases that are prevalent there. For example, Asian immigrants living in the United States have more susceptibility to diseases like hepatitis, liver and lung cancers, and parasitoses compared to U.S.- born citizens because of the prevalence of these diseases in their countries of origin (Dhooper, 2003).

Enabling factors in the context of health services utilization include financial resources, social resources, and access to health (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Financial resources are monetary means used to obtain health services; social resources are relationships through friendships, kin, and communities that help the individual gain access to health care; and access to health services is the availability of health professionals and facilities that provide health services (Yang & Hwang, 2016). The ability to purchase health insurance and income is used to measure financial resources, and both health insurance and income predict health services utilization (Yang & Hwang,

2016). Lower household income is associated with reduced access to care as people with lower household income are less likely to have a regular source of health care (Ye, Mack, Fry-Johnson, & Parker, 2012).

Social resources are an enabling factor that influences immigrant health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Nandi et al. (2008) stated that health information can be diffused through family members and other relatives, friends, and peers, and it can help shape immigrants' health-seeking behaviors; social networks can help connect immigrants to the appropriate health services personnel and facilities that can help increase their access to health care services. Evidence showed that availability of medical personnel and facilities is an essential factor that influences health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Soneji, Armstrong, and Asch (2012) and Benarroch-Gampel et al. (2012) found that increased availability of medical personnel results in increased utilization of healthcare services. However, Yang and Hwang (2016) recognized that the availability of medical personnel may not necessarily result in increased health care utilization among immigrants given that there are factors pertinent to immigrants that can prevent them from having access to available medical personnel.

There are enabling factors that are specific to immigrants that affect their health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Because new immigrants tend to get unskilled and low-paying jobs (Aguilera & Massey, 2003; Kwainoe, n.d.), there is a more significant effect of financial resources on health services utilization among immigrants than natives (Yang & Hwang, 2016). However, some wealthy immigrants bring in money to their host countries, which empowers them financially (Yan, 2014) and increases their chance of health services utilization in the host countries (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Also, some immigrants use their social connections to get free or cheaper medicine from the homeland (Bergmark, Barr, & Garcia, 2010), which may result in the reduction of health services utilization in the host country (Yang & Hwang, 2016).

Predisposing factors in the context of health services utilization include the conditions that show a proclivity for health services utilization, and they include demographic factors, health beliefs, socioeconomic factors, and genetic factors (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Anderson (1995) stated that gender, age, race or ethnicity, and marital status have been found to influence health services utilization. Dhingra et al. (2010) found that women have more likelihood of health services use than men. Also, racial and ethnic differences in health services utilization can be ascribed partly to genetic predisposition and cultural differences (Dhingra et al., 2010). Yang and Hwang argued that the influence of demographic factors on health care utilization in the general population of the host country may not be any different among immigrants.

Socioeconomic status, which has education level and income as indicators, can also influence health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Hernandez-Quevedo and Jimenez-Rubio (2009) showed that people with higher education levels have a higher tendency to seek health services than those with lower education levels. Similarly, there is evidence of a positive correlation between socioeconomic status and health services utilization (Szwarcwald, Souzar-Junior, & Damacena, 2010). Health beliefs, which include knowledge about, attitude toward, and values concerning health and health care services, may influence perception of the need for health care and health care utilization (Anderson, 1995). Yang and Hwang argued that higher perceived susceptibility to disease, higher perceived disease severity, and increased perceived benefits of taking action may result in higher likelihood of health services utilization, whereas increased perceived barriers to taking action will decrease the likelihood of health services utilization.

Yang and Hwang (2016) asserted that there are predisposing factors that are specific to immigrants including immigration status, assimilation, and immigrant ethnic culture that impact health services utilization among immigrants. Yang and Hwang argued that immigration status, which is associated with rights, benefits, resources, and psychological condition, is probably the most crucial factor that influences immigrant health services utilization. Chavez (2012) agreed that undocumented immigrants underutilize medical services in comparison to legal immigrants and citizens, thereby making undocumented immigrant status a barrier to health care services utilization. Similarly, Bustamante et al. (2012) and Raymond-Flesch, Siemons, Pourat, Jacobs, and Brindis (2014) found that because of fear of deportation, language barriers, shame, and high medical bills, undocumented immigrants are less likely than legal immigrants to seek medical care. Lai and Surood (2010) and Lebrun (2012) found that newer immigrants experience hardships and barriers such as lack of financial resources, unfamiliarity with the health care system of the host country, experience of disrespect or discrimination, limited English proficiency, and distrust in Western medical care, which decrease their likelihood of seeking medical care.
Assimilation or acculturation in the context of immigrant health services utilization entails adaptation to the culture and society of the host country, and it is an essential immigrant-specific predisposing factor (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Yang and Hwang argued that the ability of immigrants to adapt to the culture, social system, and health care system of the host country can impact health services utilization: a higher degree of assimilation leads to higher health services utilization among immigrants, and different levels of adaptation may result in variations in health services use among immigrants. Immigrant ethnic culture is an immigrant-specific predisposing factor that refers to the cultural patterns such as norms, beliefs, traditions, behaviors, and values brought by immigrants to the host society (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Yang and Hwang argued that immigrant ethnic culture influences utilization of health services among immigrants. Latino immigrants view illness as will of God or divine punishment resulting from sinful acts, and as a result consult folk healers for treatment instead of seeking professional health services (Padilla & Villalabos, 2007; Ransford, Carrillo, & Rivera, 2010).

According to Yang and Hwang (2016), macrostructural and contextual factors include conditions at community or societal level that individuals do not have control over. They include the health care system, government policy, and other social, economic and political conditions. Yang and Hwang argued that some government policies that are not designed by intent to affect health behaviors might bear on health services utilization. The Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act enacted in 1996 in the United States, makes most legal immigrants ineligible to receive publicly funded services such as Medicaid until after 5 years of residence. It also makes immigrants ineligible for Supplemental Security Income and Food Stamps until citizenship status is attained. According to Yang and Hwang, the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act restricted immigrants' access to health care thereby impacting their health services utilization. Also, the health care system could have a significant effect on immigrants' health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). The Affordable Care Act made legal immigrants eligible to buy health insurance through the health insurance exchanges and to receive premium and cost-sharing subsidies, which could boost the health services utilization of immigrants (Yang & Hwang, 2016).

According to Yang and Hwang (2016), contextual factors specific to immigrants that predict health services utilization include the condition under which immigrants exit their country of origin, experiences of health services utilization in the homeland before emigration, and context of reception by the host country. Sanz et al. (2011) found that immigrants from countries that have a universal health care system are more inclined to get health insurance and use health care services than immigrants from countries without universal health care system. Yang and Hwang argued that context of reception by host country that include government policies toward new immigrants, attitudes of the host society toward new immigrants, and immigrants' ethnic community in the host country may combine to affect immigrants' adaptation to the host country's systems as well as influence immigrant health services utilization.

According to Yang and Hwang (2016), in addition to directly influencing health services utilization, some of the determinants of immigrant health services utilization

have intervening or mediating effect by having indirect effects on immigrant health services use through other variables. The mediating effects of determinants of health services utilization are shown in Figure 1.



*Figure 1.* An analytical framework for immigrant health services utilization. Note: A solid line denotes a direct effect and a broken line indicates that some of the factors within the category have an indirect effect on health service utilization via one or more mediating variables, but the mediating relationships do not necessarily occur in a total fashion. Adapted from " Explaining Immigrant Health Service Utilization: A Theoritical Framework" by Philip Q. Yang and Shann Hwa Hwang. Sage Open, p. 4. Copyright 2016 by.authors

Yang and Hwang (2016) asserted that socioeconomic factor, which is one of the

predisposing factors could influence health services utilization through the enabling

factors because people with a higher socioeconomic status tend to have more resources at

their disposal to utilize health services than people with lower socioeconomic status.

Immigration status, which is an immigrant-specific predisposing factor, can affect health

services utilization through enabling factors given that immigration status could affect

immigrants' access to resources for health care. Age, which is one of the predisposing

factors, affects health services utilization through the need factors because as an individual's age increases, the need for care increases and so is the health services utilization.

The immigrant health utilization model provides a basis for this study as it showed the possible factors that could directly or indirectly influence health services utilization among immigrants. It also revealed the different domains under which to assess the potential factors that could influence colorectal cancer screening among immigrants. The model, therefore, serves as a valuable tool with which to identify relevant variables that could affect the use of health care services such as colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

## **Methodologies Used in Previous Studies**

I reviewed several studies that were similar to this study. A good number of the studies I reviewed were quantitative in nature (Bustamante et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Lee, Ju, Vang, & Lundquist, 2010; Maxwell et al., 2010; Talaat, 2015), while some others were done using qualitative design (Gany, Herrera, Avallone, & Changrani, 2006; Harcourt et al., 2014; Lee & Lee, 2013; Ndukwe, Williams, & Sheppard, 2013). Researchers recruited study participants using different sampling techniques such as purposeful sampling (Lee & Lee, 2013), convenience sampling (Harcourt et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2012; Ndukwe, Williams & Sheppard, 2013), random sampling (Maxwell et al., 2010), and snowball sampling (Tung, Nguyen, & Tran, 2008). Tung et al. (2008) and Kim et al. (2012) who used snowball sampling and convenience sampling method respectively stated that study participants were recruited from one site and that the

relatively small sample used in their studies limited the generalization of the results to the entire target population.

The review showed that researchers collected data using self-administered questionnaire (Kim et al., 2011; Talaat, 2015; Tung et al., 2008), focus group discussions (Gany et al., 2006, Ndukwe, Williams & Sheppard, 2013), and face-to-face interview (Harcourt et al., 2014; Lee & Lee, 2013). Researchers got large samples of immigrants by extracting secondary data from state and national databases. Lee and Vang (2010) merged the 2001, 2002, and 2005 data from California Health Interview Survey that enabled the use of large sample size for a study on Asian-American women subgroups. Bustamante et al. (2012) conducted a population-based study with large sample size by combining data from two linked databases. Maxwell et al. (2010) merged the 2001, 2003, and 2005 data from California Health Interview Survey to get a large sample for a study on disparities in colorectal cancer screening among five Asian ethnic groups. Tung, Nguyen, and Tran (2008) pilot-tested the questionnaire used in their research to ensure study participants understood the questions uniformly to enable appropriate responses to the questions. Tung et al. stated that there was a possibility that the ethnic women that made up the study sample over-reported screening test receipt to provide answers that are socially desirable but did not know the level of overestimation in their study. In some of the studies reviewed, the authors used logistic regression for data analysis (Kim et al., 2012; Maxwell et al., 2010). However, in some other studies, the authors used analytical techniques such as one-way Analysis of Variance, Chi-Square test, and T-test were (Kim et al., 2012; Talaat, 2015; Tung, Nguyen, & Tran, 2008).

Health insurance status, language barrier, lack of English proficiency, lack of recommendation for screening by primary care physicians, and other factors have been found to influence colorectal cancer screening in some minority and immigrant populations in the United States. Shahidi et al. (2013) analyzed data on 30,434 colorectal cancer average-risk adults age 50 years and above extracted from the 2007 California Health Interview Survey, and found that lack of health insurance and lack of English proficiency decreased the odds of getting colorectal cancer screening among immigrants in the United States. Talaat (2015) carried out a cross-sectional study on adherence and barriers to colorectal cancer screening among Arab-Americans, and results showed that not considering colorectal cancer screening as necessary, low knowledge level of the need to undergo screening, lack of recommendation by primary care physicians, and language barrier impacted negatively on colorectal cancer screening among the population. Similarly, Wang, Moehring, Stuhr, and Krug (2013) did an integrated review of eight studies that focused on barriers to colorectal cancer screening among Hispanics in the United States, and findings showed that lack of awareness of colorectal cancer screening, fear, and screening costs were some of the barriers to colorectal cancer screening among Hispanics. Other barriers to colorectal cancer screening revealed in the study include low educational levels, lack of provider recommendations, and limited English language proficiency.

### **Cancer Overview**

Cancer is a complex, heterogeneous disease in which abnormal cells divide uncontrollably and invade other surrounding tissues (CDC, n.d.-b). According to NCI (n.d.-b), for cancer cells to form, the normal process of cell division, growth, and specialization in function are altered leading to the formation of abnormal cells that divide without control and may or may not form tumors. Cancer cells can overcome the biological mechanisms that control cell division as well as the mechanisms that program cell deaths, which the body uses to get rid of cells that are not needed (NCI, n.d.-b). Cancerous cells may be malignant, a form in which they invade nearby tissues or influence surrounding healthy cells, or may be benign when they are localized undifferentiated mass that is not able to invade surrounding tissues and rarely threatens life (NCI, n.d.-b)

According to NCI (n.d.-b), cancer types are named in line with the organs or tissues where the cancers form or described by the cell type from where they originate irrespective of whether the tumor is malignant or benign. However, cancer can develop from a mix of tissues or cells thereby making classification more complex (NCI, n.d.-b). *Carcinomas* are the most common kind of tumor, and they are formed by epithelial cells that cover the inside and outer surfaces of the body; when viewed under a microscope, *carcinomas* have a column-like shape (NCI, n.d.-b). *Adenocarcinoma* is a type of carcinoma that originates from epithelial cells that produce fluids or mucus, which are often found in glandular tissues such as breast, colon, and prostate (NCI, n.d.-b). *Basal cell carcinoma* originates from the basal layer of the epidermis, while squamous cell carcinoma forms in the squamous cells, which are found on the outer surface of the skin and organs such as stomach, intestines, kidneys, bladder, and lungs (NCI, n.d.-b). The *transitional cell carcinoma* forms in epithelial tissues that are found in the linings of bladder, ureters, and parts of the kidneys (NCI, n.d.-b). *Sarcomas* are cancer types that originate from bone, fibrous tissues such as tendons and ligaments, and soft tissues that include muscle, fat, lymph vessels, and blood vessels (NCI, n.d.-b). *Lymphoma* is a cancer type that originates from lymphocytes, *multiple myeloma* starts in the plasma cells, and *melanoma* starts from melanocytes, which are specialized cells that form melanin (NCI, n.d.-b).

## **Colorectal Cancer**

# Description

According to Li and Lai (2009), the colon and rectum are parts of the large intestine whose functions are to absorb water and nutrient, as well as store feces until defecation through the anus. For description purpose, the colorectal region is divided into three different parts including (a) the right part that is proximal to the splenic flexure, which is made of cecum, ascending colon, and transverse colon; (b) the left part that is distal to the splenic flexure, which is made of descending colon and sigmoid colon; (c) rectum (Ellis, 2010; Li & Lai, 2009). The diagram showing the three segments of the colorectum is shown in Figure 2.



*Figure 2*. A diagram showing the three segments of the colorectum: right-sided tumors are classified as originating proximal to the splenic flexure (cecum, ascending colon, and transverse colon); left sided tumors arise distally to this site (descending colon, sigmoid colon) and rectum. Adapted from "Colorectal cancer, one entity or three" by Li Feng-ying and Mao-de Lai. Journal of Zhejiang University Science, 10 (3), p.221. Copyright (2009) by authors.

There are structural and physiological differences in the various segments of the large bowel that include (a) the colon has a thinner wall compared to the rectum; (b) the ascending colon has multi-layered capillary networks, whereas the capillary networks of the distal colon is single layered; (c) both mucosal capillary density and average width of the mucosal capillary bed gradually reduced toward the distal colon (Li & Lai, 2009; Skinner & O'Brien, 1996). The structural and physiological differences in the different parts of the large bowels are connected to the reason why nutrient and water absorption take place at highest rates in the cecum and progressively decreases towards the rectum (Li & Lai, 2009). There are histological differences between the distal and proximal colon including (a) the proportion of goblet cells that secrete mucin believed to be a defense for the mucosal surface against physical and chemical stimuli, is higher in the

sigmoid colon and rectum; (b) compared to other segments of the large bowels, the rectum has higher concentration of endocrine cells, which may be related to the high incidence of carcinoma of the rectum; (c) short-chain fatty acids and ethanol are in largest amount in the proximal colon, while neutral mucopolysaccharides are predominant in the descending colon, and these differences may influence aspects of colon function (Li & Lai, 2009).

# **Types of Colorectal Cancer**

There are different kinds of colorectal cancer. About 95% of all colorectal cancer cases are *adenocarcinomas*, and they start as a growth of cell called polyp in the cells of the lining of the colon and rectum and then spread to other layers (NCI, n.d.-b). The tumor is called *mucinous adenocarcinoma* when it appears to be in a pool of mucus under the light microscope, and makes up about 10 to 15 percent of all colon and rectal adenocarcinomas. However, it is called signet ring cell adenocarcinoma when the tumor cells have a signet shape under a light microscope, and makes up about less than 1 percent of adenocarcinomas (NCI, n.d.-b; Jass, 2007). Other less prominent cancers of the colon and rectum include (a) primary colorectal lymphomas, which is a non-Hodgkin lymphoma that develops in the lymphocytes of the lymphatic system, and account for about 0.5 percent of all colorectal cancer cases; (b) gastrointestinal stromal tumor that forms in *interstitial cell of Cajal* found in the lining of the gastrointestinal tract, and develop mostly in the stomach and most others form in the small intestine and rectum; (c) *leiomyosarcomas*, which occurs in the three layers of the smooth muscles found in the colon and rectum that guide waste products through the digestive tract, and constitutes

about 0.1 percent of colorectal cancer cases; and (e) *melanomas* that are commonly associated with skin cancer but occur anywhere else including the colon and rectum (NCI, n.d.-b; McRee & Goldberg, 2011).

# Tumoregenesis

The formation of *adenomatous polyps* known as the precursors of *adenocarcinoma* in the epithelial cells lining the intestinal mucosa marks the beginning of colorectal cancer (Toll et al., 2010). The adenomatous polyps have a grape-like appearance in the inner walls of the intestinal lumen where they usually develop as people get older (Gibbons, Sinha, Phillips, & Clark, 2011). At the advanced stage, the adenoma is associated with the highest risk of colorectal cancer, and is characterized by adenomatous polyps larger than 1cm in diameter and presence of high-grade dysplasia (Wong et al., 2010). However, despite the estimation that over 70 percent of colonic carcinomas arise from pre-existing *adenomatous polyps*, less than 10 percent of colonectal adenomas progress to *adenocarcinomas* (Wong et al., 2010).

According to Tariq and Ghias (2016), colorectal cancer carcinogenesis can arise from one or a combination of pathways that include the *chromosomal instability* (CIN), CpG *island methylator phenotype* (CIMP) and *microsatellite instability*. The CIN pathway starts with mutations in the *adenomatous polyposis coli*, followed by mutational activation of oncogene called KRAS gene and inactivation of tumor suppressor gene called tumor protein p53; the tumors arising from CIN pathways comprise 85 percent of sporadic tumors, and constitute a part of familial adenomatous polyposis cases (Tariq & Ghias, 2016). The CIMP mechanism is characterized by promoter hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes such as o-6-Methylguanine-DNA Methyltransferase and MutL Homolog 1, a process often associated with protein B-Raf mutation and microsatellite instability that leads to cellular transformation (Sameer, Nissar, & Fatima, 2014; Tariq & Ghias, 2016). In the MSI pathway, there is inactivation of genetic alterations in short repeated sequences; the MSI tumors have poor differentiation but better prognosis and are often associated with proximal colon (Sameer, Nissar, & Fatima, 2014; Tariq & Ghias, 2016).

## **Risk Factors**

There are several factors implicated in the literature that predispose, contribute to or modify the risk for colorectal cancer. While some are modifiable and are related to behavior or lifestyle such as smoking, alcohol intake, physical inactivity, diet, overweight, and obesity, others are non-modifiable factors including age, heredity and family history, and medical history among others (ACS, n.d.). With regards to modifiable factors, several studies have linked smoking and alcohol consumption to increased risk of colorectal cancer. In a study, Pelucchi, Tramacere, Bofetta, Negri, & Vecchia (2011) found that heavy alcohol consumption (four or more drinks per day) increased the risk of colorectal cancer by 50 percent, while light alcohol consumption (one drink per day) did not have association with risk of colorectal cancer. In a case-control study, Zhao et al. (2012) used 702 cases and 717 controls to carry out a research that showed that people that drink alcohol had a higher risk of colorectal cancer [odds ratio(OR), 2.2; 95% Confidence Interval(CI), 1.2-4.0] compared to non-alcohol drinkers used as reference category. The risk increased with the number of years of alcohol drinking and number of

daily alcohol intake. Similarly, Bagnardi et al. (2015) conducted a meta-analysis of 572 studies using a total of 486,538 cases, and found that the risk of colorectal cancer in heavy alcohol drinkers (greater than 50 grams of alcohol per day or greater than three drinks per day) was 44 percent higher than the risk in non-drinkers. The result also showed that moderate drinkers (less or equal to 50 grams per day or two to three drinks per day) were 22 percent more at risk of colorectal cancer than non-drinkers used as a reference group. For tobacco smoking, Wei et al. (2009) did not identify tobacco smoking as a risk factor for colorectal cancer. However, in November 2009, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) stated that there is enough evidence to conclude that tobacco smoking causes colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.). Consistent with the position of IARC, Botteri et al. (2008) conducted a meta-analysis with 126 observational studies with 39,779 cases, and the results revealed that tobacco smoking has a strong association with both colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. The analysis of data used for the study provided a pooled relative risk of 1.18 (95% CI {1.11, 1.25}) for smokers compared to non-smokers used as a reference category, and there was a dose-response relationship with increasing number of years of smoking and packs per day. In the same study, meta-analysis of 10 cohort studies showed an absolute risk increase of 6 deaths per 100,000 person-years among smokers compared to non-smokers. However, the risk estimates among smokers were higher for rectal cancer than for colon cancer. In the same vein, Hannan, Jacobs, and Thun (2009) carried out a prospective study in which 184, 187 adults in the United States were followed up from 1992 to 2005, and analysis of data using Cox proportional hazard models showed that colorectal cancer incidence was

higher in current smokers [Hazard ratio (HR) = 1.27; 95% CI (1.06, 1.52)] as well as in former smokers (HR, 1.23; 95% CI {1.11, 1.36}) compared to life-long non-smokers. The result of the analysis also showed that risk of colorectal cancer was highest among participants with up to 50 years of smoking history (HR = 1.38; 95% CI {1.04, 1.84}). Further analysis showed that former smokers had risk of colorectal cancer decreased with greater time since smoking cessation (*P* trend= 0.0003) and with earlier age at cessation (*P* trend = 0.0003).

Concerning physical inactivity or sedentary lifestyle as a risk factor of colorectal cancer, various studies have shown a strong association between physical activity and decreased risk of colon cancer, but not with cancer of the rectum (ACS, n.d.). Schmid and Leitzmann (2014) carried out a meta-analysis using data from 43 studies that included a total of 68,936 cancer cases, and results revealed that people who are the most sedentary are about 54% more at risk of colon cancer than those with the lowest level of sedentary time. However, the study did not show any relationship between sedentary behavior and cancer of the rectum. In another study, Campbell, Patel, Newton, Jacobs, and Gapstur (2013) in a cohort study with 2,293 participants without a diagnosis of colorectal cancer at baseline and followed up for 16.1 years, showed that there was an association between decreased risk of mortality and increased recreational physical activity before and after colorectal cancer diagnosis.

Diet is one of the factors that have been found to influence the risk of colorectal cancer. According to ACS (n.d.), though the evidence of the influence of diet on

colorectal cancer occurrence is still accumulating, the role of specific dietary elements in influencing colorectal cancer risk has been evaluated, and some dietary elements were found to protect against occurrence of colorectal cancer. However, some other dietary elements have been found to increase the risk of colorectal cancer. Several studies have linked consumption of large quantities of red and processed meat to increased risk of colorectal cancer (Bouvard et al., 2015; Kim, Coelho, & Blachier, 2013). A meta-analysis by Chan et al. (2011) using 24 prospective studies revealed that people that consumed the largest quantities of red and processed meat were 22% more at risk of colorectal cancer compared to people that ate the least amount of red and processed meat. The study further revealed that the risk of colorectal cancer increased approximately linearly with increased intake of processed and red meat up to about 140 grams per day where there was no further increase in colorectal cancer risk. On the contrary, adequate intake of calcium has been linked to lower risk of colorectal cancer (Aune et al., 2012; Song, Garrett, & Chan, 2015). The results of studies on the association of intake of fruits, vegetables, fiber, and vitamin D and the risk of colorectal cancer were inconsistent (Lee & Chan, 2011; Song et al., 2015). In spite of the above, the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Cancer Society advocate for intake of a diet high in fruits, vegetables, and whole grains for cancer prevention (Kushi et al., 2012).

Concerning overweight and obesity, mounting evidence shows that being overweight or obese increases the risk of colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.). Ma et al. (2013) conducted a meta-analysis with 54 studies involving 9,000,000 participants from several countries, and the pooled relative risk showed that participants who are obese were 33% more at risk of colorectal cancer than participants with normal weight. The result also showed that for central obesity that was based on waist circumference, participants in the category of highest waist conference were 45% more at risk of colorectal cancer than participants in the lowest waist conference category. In separate studies, Bisschop et al. (2014) and Renehan et al. (2012) found that weight gain has more influence on the risk of colorectal cancer at early adulthood than later in life.

In addition to the modifiable risk factors discussed above, the long-term intake of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) has been linked to lower risk of colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.). Chan et al. (2005) carried out a prospective cohort study using 82,911 women who were followed up for 20 years within which their use of aspirin and other NSAIDs were assessed. The result revealed that participants that regularly used aspirin were 23 percent less at risk of colorectal cancer than participants who were nonregular users, with maximum risk reduction benefit at 14 tablets of Aspirin per week. However, the reduction in risk of colorectal cancer was not significant until after 10 years of Aspirin use. Similarly, Rothwell et al. (2010) carried out a study that involved four randomized trials of Aspirin versus control in the primary and secondary prevention of vascular events, and found that taking aspirin at a daily dose of at least 75mg reduced the 20-year risk of colon cancer but not that of rectal cancer. Also, sub-site data in the study showed that the use of aspirin decreased the risk of cancer of the proximal colon but not that of the distal colon. In addition to the protective effect of aspirin against the risk of colorectal cancer, it has been found that regular use of aspirin after diagnosis of colorectal cancer improved colorectal cancer survival (Bains et al., 2016). Despite the

benefits of aspirin use, the American Cancer Society does not yet recommend the use of aspirin for cancer prevention in the general population because of untoward effects such as gastrointestinal bleeding and increased risk of heart attack associated with the use of aspirin and other NSAIDs (ACS, n.d.).

With regards to non-modifiable factors, age is one of the factors that influence the risk of colorectal cancer. According to ACS (n.d.), the risk of colorectal cancer increases after age 40 with a median age of 68 in men and 72 years in women. Strikingly, the median age at diagnosis in sub-Saharan Africa is between 41 and 59, and the proportion of patients younger than 40 years old is 19 to 38%, which is higher than 1.9 percent in the United States (Katsidzira, Gangaidzo, Mapingure, & Matenga, 2015). However, in the United States, there is an increasing incidence of colorectal cancer among adults younger than age 50 (NCI, n.d.-a), even though it makes a minimal contribution to the overall burden of colorectal cancer in the United States (Katsidzira et al., 2015). Heredity or family history has been implicated as one of the factors that influence the risk of colorectal cancer; about 30% of people diagnosed with colorectal cancer have a family history of the disease (ACS, n.d.). Individuals whose first-degree relatives were diagnosed with colorectal cancer were 2 to 4 times more at risk of developing colorectal cancer, with the risk highest among those that have multiple first-degree relatives diagnosed with colorectal cancer (Butterworth, Higgins, & Pharaoh, 2006). Also, there are mounting pieces of evidence indicating that familial risk of colorectal cancer goes beyond first degree relatives (Samadder et al., 2014). The increased risk of colorectal cancer among people whose first-degree relatives had colorectal cancer was observed

among Chinese women who are regarded as a low-risk population in comparison to the western population (Murphy et al., 2009).

Further, individuals with a personal history of *adenomatous polyps*, chronic inflammatory bowel disease, and diabetes have increased risk of colorectal cancer (Lutgens et al., 2013; Ren, Kirkness, Kim, Asche, & Puli, 2016; Vu et al., 2014). In a population-based cohort study in Sweden in which Larsson, Giovannuci, and Wolk (2005) followed up 45,550 men until there was diagnosis of colorectal cancer, death, or 7 years of follow up, the result of Cox proportional hazards models revealed that there was a 49 percent increased risk of colorectal cancer among men that have diabetes after taking into account potential confounders. The result of the study is consistent with the result of a systematic review and meta-analysis of 30 cohort studies on the relationship between diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer in which it was found that participants with diabetes were 27% more at risk of developing colorectal cancer than non-diabetic study participants (Jiang et al., 2011). However, the underlying mechanism for the relationship between diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer has not been clearly elucidated. Shikata, Ninomiya, and Kiyohara (2012) suggest that slower bowel transit times in diabetic patients which could lead to more exposure of the mucosa of the colon to potential carcinogens may be contributory to the observed relationship between diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer.

#### **Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer**

Colorectal cancer ranks third among the most commonly diagnosed cancer in both men and women worldwide and ranks second among causes of cancer-related deaths. (ACS, n.d.; CDC, n.d.-a). In 2008, 1.24 million new cases of colorectal cancer were diagnosed worldwide, which makes up about 9% of all new cases of cancer. In the same year, approximately 600,000 deaths resulting from colorectal cancer were recorded worldwide, with about 70% occurring in low and middle-income countries (McRee & Goldberg, 2011; World Health Organization [WHO], 2012). The number of new cases of colorectal cancer recorded globally increased to about 1.36 million in 2012 with 55% of the cases occurring in more developed regions of the world, and 694,000 deaths from the disease were recorded the same year (IARC, 2012). There are variations in incidence rates across the geographical regions of the world, yet geographic patterns are relatively similar in men and women (IARC, 2012). Taiwan and other parts of China record colorectal cancer as the most common type of cancer; Europe and Oceania as a region record the highest number of new cases of colorectal cancer, while Africa and Asia have the lowest incident cases (IARC, 2012; Zhao et al., 2012). However, in terms of mortality, while there is less variability across different regions of the world, more deaths are recorded in the less developed countries of the world with central and eastern Europe recording the highest rates (20.3 per 100,000 for men and 11.7 per 100,000 for women), and western Africa recording the lowest rates (3.5 per 100,000 for men and 3.0 per 100,000 for women), which reflects poorer survival in more impoverished regions (IARC, 2012).

In the United States, colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer diagnosed in both men and women (ACS, n.d.; Nemeth et al., 2011). About 145,000 new cases of and 55,000 deaths from colorectal cancer occur yearly in the United States (ACS, n.d.).

According to ACS (n.d.), 1 out of 22 men (4.6%) and 1 out of 24 women (4.2%) will be diagnosed with colorectal cancer in their lifetime, and estimates show that about 135,430 people will be diagnosed with colorectal cancer in 2017 and about 50,260 persons (27,150 men and 23,110 women) will die from the disease in the same year. The incidence of colorectal cancer increased from 1975 through to mid-1980s after which it has been on the decline; the accelerated reduction in incidence since the mid-2000s has been ascribed to the detection and removal of precancerous polyps resulting from increased colorectal cancer screening (ACS, n.d.). Though colorectal cancer incidence has been on decline in the United States generally, the incidence in adults younger than 50 years of age is on the upward trend, and the underlying factors are unknown even though it has been suggested that it could be a reflection of increased sedentary lifestyle, higher prevalence of obesity, and unhealthy dietary patterns in children and young adults (ACS, n.d.; Siegel, Jemal, & Ward, 2009). Among all the major racial and ethnic groups in the United States, the incidence rates have been on the downward trend in the last ten years except American Indian and Alaska native men among whom the incidence rates have been relatively stable (ACS, n.d.).

In the African continent, the data collection systems are weak in most of the countries, and so available statistics are not adequate for accurate estimation of the burden of colorectal cancer disease in the continent (Graham, Adeloye, Grant, Theodoratou, & Campbell, 2012). However, the scant statistics available indicate that colorectal cancer is the fifth most common cancer in Africa with incidence of colorectal cancer for men about 4.38 per 100,000 of population while that of women is 3.69 per

100, 000 of population; southern African countries have the highest incidence rate (Graham et al., 2012). In the year 2000, there were about 23000 new cases of colorectal cancer with approximately 59% occurring in men (Graham et al., 2012). Evidence showed that incidence of colorectal cancer is much lower in Africa than in Western countries, but there were similarities in trend for colorectal cancer by age and sex in both African and Western nations (Jemal et al., 2011). In sub-Saharan Africa, the males bear a slightly higher burden of colorectal cancer disease more than the females as the male to female ratio of the disease ranges from 1.3:1 to 1.6:1, and the median age at diagnosis is 41 to 59 years, which indicates that young people bear a disproportionate burden of the disease in the region (Katsidzira et al., 2015). The reason for the early onset of the disease in sub-Saharan Africa is not yet known. However, given that many early onsets of colorectal cancer are also seen among African Americans in the United States (Siegel, Jemal, & Ward, 2009), it is suspected that constitutional factors common to people of African descent may be contributory to the trend (Katsidzira et al., 2015). Further, racial disparity in colorectal cancer burden is recorded in African countries with different ethnic populations. For example, in South Africa, the highest incident rate is recorded among people of European origin, followed by Indians, Asians, and people of mixed ancestry and lowest among indigenous blacks (Laivemo et al., 2016). The trend is in contrast with that of the United States where African Americans bear a disproportionate burden of colorectal cancer disease in the United States. About 74 to 88% of the colorectal cancers diagnosed in Africa are *adenocarcinomas*, with *mucinous adenocarcinomas* making up about 11 to 16% of the cases, and signet-ring cell adenocarcinomas, which are rare

globally, accounting for about 3-5% of colorectal cancer cases in Africa (Katsidzira et al., 2015). The high frequency of *signet-ring cell carcinomas* compared to the rest of the world underscores the high rate of early onset of colorectal cancer observed in Africa (Katsidzira et al., 2015).

#### **Colorectal Cancer Screening**

The slow course of growth from precancerous polyp to invasive cancer creates an opportunity for prevention and early detection of colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.). Early detection of premalignant polyps through screening and removal of precancerous polyps is considered an important strategy aimed at reducing the incidence and prevalence of and mortality from invasive colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.; Nemeth et al., 2011). When detected at early stage, the treatment of colorectal cancer is more favorable (CDC, n.d.b). Modeling studies have suggested that increasing colorectal cancer screening will create more impact in reducing colorectal cancer mortality compared with the reduction of risk factors or increased treatment use (Edwards et al., 2010; Vogeelar et al., 2006). The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends colorectal cancer screening for men and women age 50 to 75 years, while the decision for individuals age 76 to 85 years to get screened for colorectal cancer should be individualized with patient's overall health and prior screening history taken into account (USPSTF, 2016). However, individuals who are at increased risk of colorectal cancer because of their family history and certain medical conditions such as chronic inflammatory bowel disease are recommended to begin colorectal cancer screening earlier than at age 50 years (ACS, n.d.).

The tests that can detect *adenomatous polyps* as well as cancer include (a) flexible sigmoidoscopy that is done every 5 years, (b) colonoscopy that is conducted every 10 years, (c) double-contrast barium enema that is performed every 5 years, and (d) computed tomographic colonography (CTC) that is done once in 5 years. In addition to the above, there are high sensitivity stool tests such as fecal occult blood test (FOBT) and stool DNA test used primarily for cancer detection even though they are also capable of detecting some precancerous polyp. However, because the high sensitivity stool tests are done annually, adherence to the tests in the community settings is a challenge (ACS, n.d.).

Despite the availability of colorectal cancer screening tests and evidence showing the effectiveness of colorectal cancer screening in preventing invasive colorectal cancer, only 59% of the U.S. population is current for the recommended testing; about 9% reported screening with FOBT and 56% reported testing with colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy within the recommended time interval (ACS, n.d.). Among the general population of adults 50 years and older in the United States with average risk of colorectal cancer, those who are younger than 65 years, non-Whites, recent immigrants, people that have fewer than 13 years of education, and people who lack health insurance have lower screening prevalence; men are slightly more likely to get screened for colorectal cancer than women (ACS, n.d.).

# Flexible Sigmoidoscopy

According to ACS (n.d.), the sigmoidoscope used to carry out the flexible sigmoidoscopy test enables the visual examination of the rectum and lower one-third of

the colon, and if there is the presence of a polyp or tumor, the patient gets a referral for colonoscopy to have the entire colon examined. The test is carried out without sedation and is done once in 5 years. According to Schoen et al. (2012), there is a 21% reduction in colorectal cancer incidence and a 26% reduction in colorectal cancer mortality associated with sigmoidoscopy as a screening tool. In the same vein, Atkin et al. (2010) carried out a randomized clinical trial in the United Kingdom using 170,432 eligible men and women between 55 and 64 years of age, and found a 33% reduction in colorectal cancer among participants that completed a single sigmoidoscopy test.

# Colonoscopy

This is a procedure for colorectal cancer screening carried out using a colonoscope, which enables the visual examination of the entire colon with the aid of a light and small video camera on the end of the instrument; it provides an opportunity for removal of a polyp found during the procedure (ACS, n.d.). Colonoscopy has some advantages over other tests for colorectal cancer. For example, it is the most sensitive test for detection of *adenomatous polyp* and colorectal cancer, and has the longest rescreening interval among all other tests for colorectal cancer (ACS, n.d.; Rockey et al., 2005). The use of colonoscopy as the sole screening tool has been advocated for by several scientific societies in North America (Dighe et al., 2010). It has been found that when used alone, colonoscopy is very effective in reducing both incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer (Dighe et al., 2010; de Wijkerslooth et al., 2010). Zauba et al. (2012) conducted a study in which data from 2,602 participants that were prospectively referred for

colonoscopy and had adenomas removed during colonoscopy were analyzed, and the result showed that there is a 53% reduction in risk of death from colorectal cancer among the participants compared to the general population. Similarly, Citarda, Tomaselli, Capocaccia, Barcherini, & Crespi (2001) in a study conducted in Italy showed that incident rate for colorectal cancer decreased by 80% in patients whose colon were cleared of greater or equal to 5mm of adenomatous polyps compared to the reference population. However, there are limitations associated with the use of colonoscopy. First, despite its high sensitivity, the procedure misses about 20% of all *adenomatous polyp* and 10% of advanced adenomas (Heresbach et al., 2008). Second, according to Dighe et al. (2010), the test is technically demanding, and its successful completion is dependent on the skill of the colonoscopist. Third, colonoscopy requires pre-procedure bowel preparation and post-procedure care as a result of the use of sedation during the procedure (Dighe et al., 2010). Also, the risk of complications including bowel tears and bleeding is higher in colonoscopy especially when a polyp is removed during the procedure in comparison to other tests (ACS, n.d.).

#### **Double Contrast Barium Enema**

The test involves taking an x-ray of the colon following the introduction of Barium sulfate into a cleaned colon through the rectum which helps to fill and open the colon partially; the patient is referred for colonoscopy for full visualization of the colon if an abnormality is observed (ACS, n.d.). The sensitivity of the test in detecting small polyps and cancer is lesser than that of colonoscopy, and its use has become unpopular as a result of more availability of colonoscopy, patient and physician preferences of other tests, scarcity of well-trained radiologists to carry out the procedure as well as comparatively lower insurance reimbursement (ACS, n.d.).

### **Computed Tomographic Colonography(CTC)**

The test also called virtual colonoscopy produces a detailed 2- or 3-dimensional view of the full colon by use of a type of x-ray machine usually linked to a computer that creates images of the interior colon, and patients with polyps or any other abnormality are referred for colonoscopy (ACS, n.d.). The less invasiveness of CTC compared to other structural tests, short duration of the procedure, and absence of need for recovery time confer some advantages on CTC over other tests. Also, the sensitivity of CTC in detecting invasive cancer and polyps of 1cm or larger is similar to that of colonoscopy (Johnson et al., 2008). However, the use of CTC may be undermined by the risk of cumulative exposure to radiation, the inability of the CTC to detect small polyps and lack of coverage by many insurance plans (ACS, n.d.; Dighe et al., 2010).

## **Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening in the United States**

According to CDC (n.d.-a), the racial and ethnic disparity in colorectal cancer screening persists in the United States despite the national increases in colorectal cancer screening rates. The colorectal cancer screening rates for racial minorities remains lower than that of the Whites (Klabunde et al., 2011; Wilder & Wilson, 2016). The screening rate among Whites has been found to be consistently higher than those of the African Americans, Hispanics, Asian/Pacific Islanders, Native American and Alaska Natives, and other minority populations in the United States. After controlling for covariates, Williams, Dabney, and Holmes (2013) found that in the United States, compared to

Whites, African Americans, Hispanics, and Asians were 28%, 33%, and 37% less likely to undergo colorectal cancer screening respectively. In another study, Liss and Baker (2014) after analyzing a national data found that Whites self-reported the highest rate of colorectal cancer screening (62.0%) while the self-reported rates among other racial groups were 59.0% for African Americans, 54.6% for Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, 52.5% for Hispanic-English, 49.5% for American Indian/Alaska Native, 47.2% for Asians, and 52.5% for Hispanic–Spanish. As a distinct immigrant population, the colorectal cancer screening rate among African-born immigrants in the United States is not known, and is not expected to be different from the trend of lower colorectal cancer screening rates recorded among racial minorities in the United States. Also, considering that the experience of health care utilization in the country of origin before emigration is capable of influencing immigrants' utilization of health care services in foreign lands (Yang & Hwang, 2016), it is reasonable to expect that lack of population-based colorectal cancer screening services in African countries may negatively impact the likelihood of undergoing colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Numerous studies have been done in an attempt to explain racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening in the United States. Some of the factors that have been found to influence racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening include socioeconomic status, socio-cultural factors, and access to care (ACS, n.d.; Duobeni et al., 2010; Liss & Baker, 2014; White, Vernon, Franzini, & Du, 2011). Because these factors have not been able to fully explain disparities in colorectal cancer screening (Stimpson, Pagan, & Chen, 2012), some other studies have been done to see how macro-level factors influence screening and shape disparities in colorectal cancer screening, and the results are mixed. Stimpson, Pagan, and Chen (2012) analyzed the 2000 and 2005 data from NHIS in which the study populations consisted of Whites, African Americans, Hispanic/Latinos, Asian Americans, and American Indians/Alaska natives. The result revealed that policy modifiable and contextual factors such as the supply of gastroenterologists and local health insurance market influenced individuals' likelihood of undergoing colorectal cancer screening but did not adequately account for the racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening. Bennaroch-Gampel et al. (2012) analyzed 2003 to 2007 data from 974, 879 beneficiaries of Texas Medicare and found that though increased availability of colonoscopists and primary care physicians led to increased use of colonoscopy generally, the use of colonoscopy among Blacks and Hispanics did not increase like it did among Whites, and so led to wider disparities in colonoscopy use between Whites and Blacks and Whites and Hispanics. In contrast to the above finding, Soneji, Armstrong, and Asch (2012) found that increased physician supply explained the colorectal cancer screening disparity between Whites and Hispanics but did not affect the disparity between Whites and Blacks. The study was conducted with data from 1997 to 2008 collected by Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System.

The disparity in physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening is another factor that has been found to contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening (ACS, n.d.; Lopez-Class et al., 2012). In a cross-sectional quantitative study in which a 2002, 2004, 2006 and 2008 sets of secondary data that were analyzed consisted of 11,368 Whites and 2,495 Blacks age 50 years and above and all participants were Maryland residents, Rich, Kuyateh, Dwyer, Groves, and Steinberger (2011) who employed logistic regression analytical technique in data analysis found that Whites significantly reported more physician recommendation for colonoscopy and sigmoidoscopy than did Blacks (75% Vs. 65%). Further, the analysis showed that the proportion of respondents who reported physician recommendation for colonoscopy and sigmoidoscopy increased from 2002 to 2008 in both races, but the difference in physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening between Blacks and Whites did not change with time. Similarly, Ahmed, Pelletier, Winter, and Albatineh (2013) analyzed data on 5900 adults from 2000 edition of NHIS and found that compared to Whites, Blacks and Hispanics were respectively 26% and 34% less likely to receive a recommendation for colorectal cancer screening. The result of the above study is consistent with the findings of the study by Shokar, Carlson, and Weller (2005) in which 560 participants age 50 to 80 years from different racial groups were recruited from a University-based family medicine clinic in Southeast Texas in 2004 and 2005. Upon analysis of study data, the result showed that racial minority groups were significantly less likely than Whites to receive a doctor's recommendation for colorectal cancer screening, a factor which in turn was found to influence racial and ethnic differences in colorectal cancer screening. The reason for the resultant effect of racial disparities in physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening on racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening may not be far-fetched as it has been found that physician recommendation for colorectal cancer improves the odds of getting screened for

colorectal cancer (Gilbert & Kanarek, 2005). Racial minority populations including immigrants who are at a disadvantage in receiving physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening may likely record low colorectal cancer screening rates. It is needful to address the findings from these studies in order to increase colorectal cancer screening among racial minorities. It may help make achievable the goal of having 80% of adults age 50 and above in the United States screened for colorectal cancer by 2018, an initiative led by the American Cancer Society, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention and the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable (ACS, n.d.).

# Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening Among Native-Born and Foreign-Born Populations in the United States

The existence of disparity in colorectal cancer screening between foreign-born and U.S-born citizens of the United States is established (CDC, n.d.-a). According to ACS (n.d.), foreign-born individuals living in the United States are among the subgroups of U.S. populations that are most likely to have low colorectal screening rates. Several studies have shown that foreign-born populations living in the United States have lower colorectal cancer screening rates than the native-born U.S. population. Shih et al. (2008) analyzed data from the 2000 NHIS Cancer Control Module that were collected from 38,633 households and found that rate of colorectal cancer screening for foreign-born individuals was significantly lower than that of U.S-born individuals with the same socioeconomic and insurance status. Also, Shahidi et al. (2013) analyzed data from 2007 California Health Interview Survey collected from 30,434 screening-eligible adults and found that compared with U.S-born citizens, foreign-born U.S. citizens have lower odds of colorectal cancer screening (OR = .88; 95% CI {.74, 1.06}). In the same vein, Reyes and Miranda (2015) used the NHIS 2000 to 2010 data in a study in which they found that while native-born U.S. citizens have 56% colorectal cancer screening rates, the rate for foreign-born U.S. citizens was 52%. The implication of lower screening rates among immigrant populations in the United States is that more opportunities for early diagnosis are missed among foreign-born populations in the United States. The findings from these studies highlight the need to investigate how the factors identified in literature affect colorectal cancer screening practices of specific immigrant populations such as Africanborn immigrants.

The factors that drive the disparity in colorectal cancer screening between U.Sborn and foreign-born U.S. citizens have been examined in several studies and factors such as nativity, access to health insurance, limited English language proficiency, and cultural factors have been implicated (ACS, n.d.). Goel et al. (2003) in a study in which they used 1998 data from NHIS collected from 98,785 respondents, found that demographic and socioeconomic barriers such as low income, less education, and lack of health insurance were more prevalent among the foreign-born population than among the U.S-born citizens. Goel et al. suggested that these factors might explain some of the disparity in colorectal cancer screening between native-born and foreign-born U.S. citizens. In another study, Shahidi et al. (2013) did a stratified analysis of the 2007 California Health Interview Survey data and found that there is a relationship between foreign birthplace and decreased odds of colorectal cancer screening, and that the relationship is more pronounced among foreign-born populations that lacked health insurance as well as among those with limited English proficiency. Further, Johnson (2010) used 2005 California Health Interview Survey data collected from 1496 foreignborn Mexican American men and women who were 50 years old and above, to carry out a study. It was found that more acculturated Mexican Americans were 3 to 4 times more likely to get screened for colorectal cancer, while less acculturated Mexican Americans were 2 times as likely not to get screened for colorectal cancer. The implication is that cultural differences between foreign-born populations living in the United States and U.S-born populations could explain some of the disparities between foreign-born and native-born populations living in the United States given that cultural preferences are known to influence health-seeking behavior (Dhingra et al., 2010). The findings from these studies highlight the need to investigate how some of the factors identified in literature affect colorectal cancer screening practices of immigrant populations in the United States. Since the immigrants live in the communities along with native-born Americans, the health status of the foreign-born populations affect that of the entire country, and so interventions designed to increase colorectal cancer screening should include those targeting immigrant populations and other disadvantaged minority groups.

# **Colorectal Cancer Screening in Africa and Its Implication for the Study**

Colorectal cancer is regarded as a rare disease in Africa. Even though the prevalence of the disease in the African continent is on the increase, available data suggest that there is still a low burden of the disease in Africa compared to the Western countries (Katsidzira et al., 2015). Even among clinicians in Africa, the perception that colorectal cancer is a rare disease subsists (Katsidzira et al., 2015). Also, there is a low

level of awareness of the disease among the populace (Busolo & Woodgate, 2015). Cancer prevention efforts by various governments are deficient as there is no organized population-based colorectal cancer screening program in any country in Africa (Laiyemo et al., 2016). These may not be unrelated to the experience of inadequate access to colonoscopy and modern cross-sectional imaging techniques in African continent (Katsidzira et al., 2015) and a consequent delay in presentation and diagnosis of colorectal cancer in Africa (Gondos, Brenner, Wabinga, & Pakin, 2005). Even in hospital and clinic settings, though colonoscopy is employed in the diagnosis of colorectal cancer in Africa, yet in many others, it is done without colonoscopy because of lack of access to the technique. In a retrospective study by Chalya et al. (2013) in which they examined clinicopathological patterns and challenges of management of colorectal cancer in a resource-limited setting using Tanzania as a case study, it was revealed that out of 332 colorectal cancer patients, none received colonoscopy and more than 30% of the patients were diagnosed at laparotomy.

Several studies on colorectal cancer in Africa have linked the low incidence of the disease in Africa to African lifestyle practices and dietary pattern that are thought to be protective against the risk of colorectal cancer (Katsidzira et al., 2015). It is, therefore, reasonable to expect that prevalence of risk factors for colorectal cancer among immigrants from Africa be lower than it is among native-born Americans. However, previous studies on immigrants have shown that adoption of Western lifestyle and dietary patterns as a result of acculturation have a significant effect on the prevalence of risk factors and incidence of colorectal cancer among immigrant populations (Ladabaum et

al., 2014; Maskarinec & Noh, 2004). Because it cannot be ruled out that the African-born immigrants living in the United States can acquire Western lifestyle and dietary pattern that can lead to increased colorectal cancer risk among the immigrants as they become acculturated over the years, there is a need for increased screening rates among these immigrants from Africa. Therefore, studies that can yield information on factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants in the United States are imperative.

#### **Summary**

In chapter 2, I presented detailed information found in the literature on cancer, colorectal cancer, colorectal cancer screening, and disparities in colorectal cancer screening in the United States. The review of the literature revealed that disparities in colorectal cancer screening persist in the United States despite decreased incidence of and mortality from colorectal cancer associated with increased colorectal cancer screening (ACS, n.d.). The racial minorities and immigrant populations in the United States record lower screening rates than non-Hispanic Whites (ACS, n.d.; Klabunde et al., 2011; Shahidi et al., 2013; Wilder & Wilson, 2016). I reviewed some studies that focused on factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among some immigrant populations in the United States, and some of the factors revealed in the studies include health insurance status, immigration status, acculturation, English proficiency, recommendation for colorectal cancer screening among others. Though African born immigrants living in the United States are an integral part of the U.S. population, yet literature on colorectal

cancer screening practices and factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants is almost non-existent. This study was designed to fill the identified gap and yield knowledge that may be useful in designing interventions geared toward increasing colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. In chapter 3, I discussed the study design and methodology, study variables, statistical methods, research setting and sampling technique, inclusion and exclusion criteria, and ethical considerations.

# Chapter 3: Research Method

This study was designed to examine factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. This chapter focuses on the research design and method used to carry out the study. The major sections include study design, study population, sampling method, data collection and instrumentation, statistical analytical methods, ethical considerations, and validity and reliability of NHIS data. The NHIS has monitored the health of the U.S. population since 1957 through personal household interviews on a broad range of health topics, and the U.S. Census Bureau has been the data collection agent (CDC, n.d.-c). I accessed the data for this study through the Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS), which is a repository of public data from NHIS managed at the University of Minnesota by Minnesota Population Center (NHIS, n.d.). The IPUMS collects, preserves, and harmonizes U.S. census data, and makes them available for easy access and enhanced documentation.

#### **Type of Study and Design**

The dependent variable in this study was ever had colonoscopy. The independent variables included education level, health insurance status, length of stay in the United States, interview language, family income, perceived health status and having a usual place for medical care. The data for the study were collected in 2010, 2013, and 2015 through a cross-sectional interview survey, and a quantitative cross-sectional design was used to examine the relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable. According to Suresh, Suresh, and Thomas (2012), a cross-sectional survey enables researchers to take a snapshot of a population at a specific time to describe the pattern of distribution of a variable or variables of interest in the population. Cross-sectional studies are associated with the use of survey questionnaires in the conduct of research (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The cross-sectional design was considered appropriate for this study because I measured the prevalence of the independent variables in the population and examined how they relate to the dependent variable in the period the data were collected.

The quantitative approach was appropriate because the demographics of the participants and data on the variables collected from the participants were numeric. According to Singleton and Straits (2005), a quantitative approach enables researchers to apply findings to the entire population from which a representative sample is drawn. This study could have been done using other research methods, but the cross-sectional quantitative approach was preferred because of the advantages it offered with regard to time and financial considerations. Several studies that addressed specific populations
have been done using cross-sectional quantitative methods to examine relationships between variables of interest. For example, Kim et al. (2012) used cross-sectional design to examine colorectal cancer screening among Korean Americans living in the United States. Similarly, Harcourt et al. (2014) used secondary data from a cross-sectional survey to study factors associated with breast and cervical cancer screening among African immigrant women in Minnesota.

## Setting and Sampling Technique

The target population was African-born immigrants age 40 years and above who identify Africa as region of birth and are living in the United States. According to the U.S. Census bureau (2014), about 1.6 million African immigrants were living in the United States in 2010, and nearly 34.5% of the population in that year were age 45 years and above which translates to approximately 554,415 people. In this study, the participants were limited to age 40 years and above based on the guideline that a person with an average risk of colorectal cancer should begin screening at age 50 years, while individuals with a high risk of colorectal cancer should start screening before age 50 years (ACS, n.d.). The study participants were selected based on the sampling design used by the NHIS in the original survey. The sample design was based on stratified multistage sampling which is used to make estimates for the country from subsamples in each of the four census regions of the United States (CDC, n.d.-c). The first stage involves dividing the United States into about 1700 geographically defined areas known as primary sampling units (PSUs) made up of a metropolitan area, a large county, or a cluster of adjacent counties. The PSUs are then stratified in line with social and

demographic characteristics of the area. Then in every stratum, one or more PSUs are sampled depending on the year, and the probability of each PSU being selected is proportional to its population size within the strata. In the second stage of sampling, geographical area segments within each PSU are sampled, and the segments are divided into clusters that are made of about 4 to 9 housing units. The selected households are then assigned a quarter of the year, which is further distributed across 13 weeks within the quarter for the interview. The NHIS sampling design from 2006 to 2015 included an all-area sample frame based on area sampling for housing units in place at the U.S. census 2000 (CDC, n. d.-c).

#### **Profile of African Immigrants in the United States**

According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2014), there were approximately 1.6 million African-born immigrants living in the United States in 2012. The American Immigration Council [AIC] (2015) recorded that the number of African-born immigrants living in the United States in 2013 was about 1.8 million and that the population of African-born immigrants in the United States has been doubling each decade since 1970. The African-born immigrants represent about 4% of the total foreign-born population in the United States; most of these immigrants came from Nigeria, Egypt, Ethiopia, Ghana, and Kenya, which together made up nearly 50% of the African immigrant population in 2013 (AIC, 2015). Although many of the African immigrants came into the United States through the diversity visa program passed in 1990 to encourage immigration from underrepresented countries, others from countries like Democratic Republic of Congo, Eritrea, Sudan, and Ethiopia arrived through refugee resettlement programs in the United States. The educational attainment of immigrants from Africa is higher than that of the overall foreign-born population in the United States; about 41% of African immigrants have a bachelor's degree or higher compared to 28% overall (U.S. Census Bureau, 2014). Approximately 54.9% of African-born immigrants are in the age bracket of 18 to 44 years, and although 21.8% of the population spoke only English at home, 49% spoke English and other languages at home (U.S. Census Bureau, 2014). There is high labor participation among African immigrants in the United States; however, there is 20.7% poverty rate among the population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2014).

#### **Sample Size Determination**

There are several methods used to calculate sample size, which is dependent on the type of data or study design (Kadam & Bhalerao, 2010), so one blanket formula cannot be used for different study designs. This study was a quantitative cross-sectional study in which logistic regression was applied in the data analysis. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2001), the formula for computing sample size for logistic regression is  $N \ge (8/f^2) + (m-1)$  where  $f^2 = R^2/(1-R^2)$ , m= number of independent variables, and  $R^2 =$  effect size. According to Hallahan and Rosenthal (1996), the effect size expected from a study can be obtained from previous research, pilot study, or Cohen's advice. Because there had not been a previous study on colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States, I followed Cohen (1988) who suggested the following effect sizes for regression studies: small =  $R^2$  less than 0.13, medium =  $R^2$  between 0.13 and 0.26, large =  $R^2$  greater than 0.26. The  $R^2$  represents the strength of the relationship between two variables. To detect a small effect size of 0.05 in this study with seven independent variables, the sample size needed was  $S \ge (8/0.0526) +$  (7-1), where  $f^2 = 0.0526$ ,  $S \ge 158$ . Out of about 1.8 million African-born immigrants living in the United States, a minimum of 158 participants was needed for the study.

## **Instrumentation and Data Collection Method**

The NHIS collected the data through in-house personal face-to-face interviews with a representative sample of the population who were noninstitutionalized. Trained personnel of the National Center for Health Statistics conduct the interviews by visiting about 35,000 to 40,000 households across the United States every year, out of which a total of 75,000 to 100,000 eligible adult family members in the selected household units are invited for interview (CDC, n.d.-d). The interviewers reach as many homes as possible among the chosen ones to ensure result accuracy, and the participants are not replaced with anyone else once selected (CDC, n.d.-d). The interview lasts about one hour, and the questionnaire consists of two main parts; one part is made up of core questions that remain the same including questions on demographic information, health status, limitations, injuries, access to health care and utilization, health insurance status, and income and assets, and the second part consists of questions that address current issues of national interest (CDC, n.d.-d). In this study, the questions in the second part of the questionnaire covered areas such as colorectal cancer screening, education level, having a usual place for medical care, number of years lived in the United States, and perceived health status.

The NHIS uses the computer assisted personal interviewing (CAPI) to administer the questionnaire, which guides the interviewers through the data collection process by allowing for routing and branching to appropriate questions based on the responses as the interviewer enters the answers directly into the computer. The CAPI has the advantage of determining if a response is consistent with previous responses and if they are within an allowable range; the ability to check possible error range to responses, improved data storage, and cost reduction due to elimination of printing and mailing costs are some of the advantages of CAPI (Kissinger et al., 2010).

To gain access to the data, I created a user account following the instructions given on the NHIS website. While creating the account, I disclosed that I am a PhD student at Walden University and that the data would be used for research for my dissertation. I was given access to the data through my account, and I followed instructions on the website to extract the data. I also wrote a letter to the IPUMS team who confirmed that creating a user account is all that was needed to have access to data on their website, and that no formal permission was needed to have access to the data, which was in the public domain.

#### **Reliability and Validity of Instrument**

A measuring instrument is said to be reliable when it is consistent in measuring what it is intended to measure, and it is valid when it correctly measures what it is designed to measure (Center for Applied Linguistics, n.d). The NHIS questionnaire that was used to collect the data had been pretested and standardized to ensure its reliability and validity, and the study benefited from the advantage of using data collected with the aid of an instrument that had been standardized and used for studies over several years at the national level in the United States. In addition, specific quality control procedures were carried out to ensure high quality of the data collected by NHIS (CDC, n.d.-c). Some of the quality control procedures included (a) observation of NHIS interviewers in a group of households by interviewer supervisor who made observations and reported about the performance of the interviewer; (b) field edits to check for completeness, consistency, and legibility of entries; (c) interview processes monitored by the Census Bureau's PANDA system that provides checks on response rates, completion rates, item response times, item non response, and other data quality indicators; (d) a re-interview of about 5% of all interviews done as a measure to check interview performance and ensure reliability and accuracy of NHIS data; and (e) computer edits carried out to check for inconsistencies and invalid responses (CDC, n.d.-d ).

## **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

To qualify as a participant in this study, the individual had to be a noninstitutionalized man or woman age 40 years and above who migrated from any country in Africa and identified Africa as the region of birth. Potential study participants had to be living in the United States at the time of the interview. The participant had to be proficient in English or any preferred language for the interview, and had to provide informed consent to participate in the study. Individuals who identified as a second or third generation immigrants of African origin were excluded from the study.

## **Study Variables**

#### **Dependent Variable**

In this study, the outcome variable was colorectal cancer screening. The USPSTF (n.d) recommended that colorectal cancer screening for average-risk individuals start at

age 50 years and continue until age 75 years, while those who are at increased risk because of certain medical conditions and family history should begin at an earlier age. The outcome variable was categorical and had a dichotomous outcome of no or yes. The outcome variable was assessed by the question, "Have you ever had a colonoscopy?" The options for the answer in the questionnaire were yes, no, refused, or don't know. For this study, only the outcome of yes or no was used in the analysis. Although other tests are used for colorectal cancer screening, colonoscopy remains the most common screening test for colorectal cancer in the United States (ACS, n.d.; Collazo, Jandorf, Thelemaque, Lee, & Itzkowitz, 2015). The use of colonoscopy as the sole screening tool in North America has been advocated by several scientific societies (Dighe et al., 2010). Colonoscopy is carried out every 10 years which is the longest screening interval among all the recommended tests, and it has the advantage of offering an opportunity for both screening and diagnostic follow-up of positive results in the same examination.

### **Independent Variables**

The study's independent variables were assessed based on the predisposing, enabling, and needs domain as detailed in the immigrant health services utilization model (Yang & Hwang, 2016). The level of education and family income, which are indicators of socioeconomic status were assessed under the predisposing domain. Having a usual place of medical care and health insurance status, which are indicators of access to health care were assessed under enabling domain, and perceived health status was assessed under needs domain. The length of stay in the United States and interview language, which are indicators of acculturation were assessed under the predisposing domain. The

level of education was assessed in the questionnaire by the question "what is the highest level of school completed or the highest degree?" Total family income was assessed by the question "what is your best estimate of the total income of all family members from all sources before taxes?" For this study, the answer on the level of education was assigned into three categories including (a) high school education or less, (b) more than high school and some college education, and (c) 4 years of college degree and higher. Total family income was regrouped into three categories including (a) less than \$35000 per annum, (b) \$35000 to \$75000 per annum, (c) more than \$75000 per annum. Perceived health status was assessed by the question "would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor"? For this study, responses were regrouped into two categories including (a) excellent, very good, and good health status were regrouped into good health, and (b) fair and poor health status were regrouped into poor health. Health insurance status was assessed using a question that asked whether participant had health insurance or not. For the purpose of this study, the responses were regrouped into two categories including (a) yes, and (b) no. Having a usual place for medical care was assessed by the question "is there a place that you usually go to when you are sick or need advice about your health?" In this study, the responses were regrouped into two categories including (a) yes, and (b) no. Length of stay in the United States was assessed by the question "about how long have you been in the United States?" For this study, the responses to the question were regrouped into two categories including (a) less than 5 years, and (b) 5 years or more. In this study, the participants who have stayed less than 5 years were referred to as recent immigrants, and those who have stayed 5 years or more

were referred to as established immigrants. No question was used to assess the language of the interview in the questionnaire but the language by which the interviews were conducted was indicated and grouped into two categories including (a) English, and (b) others.

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

The data analysis was done using IBM SPSS version 21, and the data were limited to the participants who satisfied the inclusion and exclusion criteria and completed the interview in 2010, 2013, and 2015. All statistical tests were conducted using an alpha level, which tells how extreme the result of the significance test must be to reject the null hypothesis (Taylor, 2017). In this study, the alpha ( $\alpha$ ) level is 0.05. The null hypothesis was retained and the alternative hypothesis rejected if the p-value was greater than the alpha level. On the other hand, the null hypothesis was rejected and the alternate hypothesis retained if the p-value was less than or equal to the alpha level.

### **Statistical Test for Research Hypothesis**

The type of statistical test used for analysis of data in this study was predicated on the research questions and hypothesis. The details of the research questions and hypothesis are presented as below.

Research Question 1: Is socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  1: There is no association between socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Ha 1: There is an association between socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States.

In the Research Question 1 above, ever had colonoscopy, which was the outcome variable, was categorical. The education level and family income, which were the predictor variables, were categorical. Therefore chi-square test of independence was used to test the association between ever had colonoscopy and socioeconomic factors. The significance of the Pearson chi-square statistic was determined by alpha level, which determined whether the null hypothesis was rejected or accepted. Because the outcome variable was dichotomous, simple logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between ever had colonoscopy and each of the socioeconomic factors. The odds ratio, which indicated the change in odds resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable and its 95% confidence interval (CI) were presented in Chapter 4. Also, I used multiple logistic regression analysis to see the effect of each variable of interest in this study on the probability of getting a colonoscopy when all the variables are in the model. The odds ratio, which indicated the change in odds resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable and its 95% CI were presented in Chapter 4

Research Question 2: Is acculturation measured by length of stay in the United States and language of interview associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  2: There is no association between acculturation measured by length of stay in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Ha 2: There is an association between acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States.

In the Research Question 2, ever had colonoscopy, which was the outcome variable was categorical. The length of stay in the United States and language of interview, which were the predictor variables were categorical. Therefore, chi-square test of independence was used to test for the association between ever had colonoscopy and each of the predictor variables. The significance of the Pearson chi-square statistic was determined by the alpha level, which determined whether the null hypothesis was rejected or accepted. Because the outcome variable was categorical and dichotomous, simple logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between ever had colonoscopy and each of the predictor variables. The odds ratio which indicated the change in odds resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable and its 95% confidence interval were presented in Chapter 4.

Research Question 3: Is perceived health status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  3: There is no association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 3: There is an association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States.

In the Research Question 3, ever had colonoscopy, which was the outcome variable, was categorical. Perceived health status, which was the predictor variable, was categorical. Therefore chi-square test of independence was used to test for the association between ever had colonoscopy and perceived health status. The significance of the Pearson chi-square statistic was determined by alpha level, which determined whether the null hypothesis was rejected or accepted. Simple logistic regression was also used to assess the relationship between ever had colonoscopy and perceived health status. The odds ratio which indicated the change in odds resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable and its 95% CI were presented in Chapter 4.

Research Question 4: Is access to healthcare measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance coverage status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  4: There is no association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 4: There is an association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

In the Research Question 4, ever had colonoscopy, which was the outcome variable, was categorical. Having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status, which were the predictor were categorical. Therefore chi-square test of independence was used to test for the association between ever had colonoscopy and the predictor variables. The significance of the Pearson chi-square statistic was determined by alpha level which determined whether the null hypothesis was rejected or not. Simple logistic regression was also used to assess the relationship between ever had colonoscopy and each of the predictor variables. The odds ratio which indicated the change in odds resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable and its 95% confidence interval were presented in Chapter 4.

Descriptive statistics were used to show a summary of the demographics of the sample which was representative of the study population, and it included quantitative representation and description of the characteristics of the study population. Descriptive statistics was also used to show the relationships between variables and links between the outcome and predictor variables. In this study, the descriptive statistics included the mean and standard deviation calculated for continuous variables, while counts and proportions were calculated for categorical variables. Inferential statistics were used to make inferences and predictions from the data. In this study, inferential statistics presented include Pearson chi-square statistics and p-value from chi-square test of independence, and 95% CI, odds ratio, p-value, and Wald statistics from logistic regression.

Chi-square test of independence is a statistical test that is used to examine if there is a relationship between two nominal or categorical variables; a relationship between the

variables is confirmed if the null hypothesis is rejected and alternative hypothesis accepted, whereas no relationship is established between two variables if the null hypothesis is accepted (Statistics Solutions, n.d.). In this study, ever had colonoscopy, which was the outcome variable was categorical and so also were the predictor variables that included the language of interview, length of stay in the United States, health insurance status, have a usual place for medical care, family income, education level, and perceived health status. Hence, chi-square test of independence was appropriate for assessing the relationship between the outcome and predictor variables.

Logistic regression is a statistical test that can be used to predict categorical outcomes from categorical or continuous predictors (Field, 2013). The logistic model can be used to assess whether or not a variable made a significant contribution to the occurrence of an outcome. According to Field (2013), the b-values and the Wald statistics are very crucial in interpreting the outcome of logistic regression. Whereas the b-values represent the change in the odds of the outcome variable occurring resulting from a unit change in the predictor variable, the Wald statistics signifies whether the b-coefficient for a predictor variable is significantly different from zero or not (Field, 2013). The result of the test of significance of the Wald statistics indicates whether the predictor variable makes a significant contribution to the outcome occurring or not. The odds ratio represents the change in odds of the outcome occurring; a value of odds ratio greater than 1 indicates that the odds of the outcome occurring increases as the predictor variable increases or changes from one category to another, whereas a value less than 1 signifies that the odds of outcome occurring decreases as the predictor increases or changes from

one category to another (Field, 2013). In this study, ever had colonoscopy, which is the outcome variable was categorical and so also were the predictor variables that included the language of interview, length of stay in the United States, health insurance status, have a usual place for medical care, family income, education level, and perceived health status. Hence the logistic regression analysis was appropriate for the assessing the relationship between the outcome and predictor variables and for assessing whether or not the predictor variables contributed significantly to the occurrence of the outcome variable. Logistic regression has been used in studies that examined factors that affect colorectal, breast, and cervical cancer screening in several specific populations (Harcourt et al., 2014; Kim, Chapman, & Vallina, 2013).

#### Threat to Validity

In general terms, anything that initiates a shift from a valid study is a threat to its validity. Whereas external validity is the extent to which the result of a study can be generalized to the general population, internal validity refers to the degree to which study outcome is explained by the effects of a predictor variable on the outcome variable and not by alternate explanation (McLeod, 2013). The secondary data used for this study was generated from a cross-sectional survey in which participants responded to questions on past activities. Participants may not accurately recall specific events that occurred in the past. This may introduce recall bias into the study and pose a threat to the internal validity. Also, there is a possibility that participants were tempted to give a socially acceptable response to questions. Studies have shown that participants may provide socially satisfactory answers, or may not accurately report a cancer screening test

(Blackwell et al., 2008; Bowman, Sanson-Fisher, & Redman, 1997), which can pose a threat to the internal validity of the study.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The secondary data from the NHIS used for this study is in the public domain, and NHIS ensures that the confidentiality of the data is maintained by not retaining personal identifiers like names, telephone numbers, and birth dates of the study participants. Before starting the interview the interviewer got a verbal consent for participation in the interview from the study participants (CDC, n.d.-d). The response the participants gave during the interview was on a voluntary basis, and participants had the right to withdraw from the interview at any point in time. The interviewers informed the participants about the purpose of the interview and the details of how the data collected from them would be used; the participants were assured that the law protects the information they would provide (CDC, n.d.-d). The original data were not altered or modified in this study, and so the data's integrity was maintained throughout the time of this study.

#### Summary

In Chapter 3 above, the method used to carry out the research was described by providing details of the study design, sampling frame, sampling methods, data collection instrument, and the method of data analysis. Also clearly described were the inclusion and exclusion criteria, study variables, limitations and delimitation, and ethical considerations. In the Chapter 4, I present the actual data analysis and the results.

### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. I merged and analyzed 2010, 2013, and 2015 secondary data from the NHIS. In line with the research questions, I assessed the association between colorectal cancer screening and predictor variables such as family income, education level, health insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, number of years lived in the United States, language of interview, and perceived health status. The data were analyzed with SPSS Version 21 using a Chi-square test of independence and simple and multiple logistic regression techniques. In this chapter, I present a summary of the data analysis including the descriptive statistics of the participants, the results of the Chi-square test of independence, and logistic regression analysis. The data analysis revealed the relationship between each of the independent variables and the dependent variable, and also provided answers to the research questions. In this chapter, Table 1 shows the summary of the distribution of the demographics of the study participants in line with the individual variables examined and Table 2 shows the summary of the chi-square test of independence. Table 3 shows the result of the simple logistic regression, while Table 4 summarizes the outcome of the multiple logistic regression analysis.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question 1: Is socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  1: There is no association between socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 1: There is an association between socioeconomic status measured by education level and family income and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 2: Is acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and language of interview associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  2: There is no association between acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 2: There is an association between acculturation measured by the length of stay in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 3: Is perception of health status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  3: There is no association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 3: There is an association between perceived health status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Research Question 4: Is access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance coverage status associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States?

 $H_0$  4: There is no association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

H<sub>a</sub> 4: There is an association between access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

### Demographic and Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Population

The total sample size for the study was 349 African-born immigrants age 40 years and above living in the United States at the time data for the study were collected. Descriptive statistics showed that the youngest age of participants was 40 years while the oldest was 85 years. The mean age of participants was 51.98 years with a standard deviation of 9.17. I grouped age of participants into four categories: 40-49 years, 50-59 years, 60-69 years, and 70 years and above. The highest number of participants (n=158) was in the age group 40-49 years, which represented 45.3% of the participants. The number of participants in the age group 50-59 years was 123, which represented 35.2% of the participants. There were 50 participants in age group 60-69, which represented 14.3% of the participants. Age group 70 years and above had 18 participants who represented 5.2% of the participants. Out of the 349 participants, 90 stated that they had had a colonoscopy in the past, which represented 25% of the participants, while 259 said they have not ever had colonoscopy, which represents 74.2% of the total number of participants. Out of 158 participants in the age group 40-49 years, 9(5.6%) had a colonoscopy in the past, while 41(33.3%) of the 123 participants in the age group 50-59 years had a colonoscopy. In the age group 60-69 years, 33(66%) of 50 participants had a colonoscopy, whereas in the age group 70 years and above 7(38.8%) of 18 participants had a colonoscopy.

Analysis of the educational level of the participants showed that 162(46.4%) had at least four years of college, 99(28.4%) had high school education or less, and 88(25.2%) had some college education. Of the 349 participants, 265(75.9%) had health insurance coverage while 84(24.1%) did not have health insurance coverage. Most of the participants (n=288, 82.5%) had a usual place for medical care, while 61(17.5%)participants did not. Also, although a high percentage of the participants (n=307, 88%) reported themselves to be in good health, 42(12%) perceived they had poor health status. The descriptive statistics further revealed that out of the 349 participants, 321(92%) had stayed 5 years or more in the United States and they were labeled established immigrants in this study; 28(8%) participants have lived less than 5 years in the United States and they are referred to as recent immigrants in the study. The interview was conducted in a language the participant is fluent in, and analysis showed that 340 participants (97.4%) had their interview done in English, while nine (2.6%) interviewed in other languages. The total family income was regrouped into three categories including (a) \$0-\$34,999 referred to as low income, (b) \$35,000-\$74,999 referred to as middle income, and \$75,000 and above known as the high income group. Analysis revealed that 87(24.9%) of the participants were in the high-income group, 97(27.8%) were in the middle-income group, and 165(47.2%) were in the low-income group. In Table 1 below, I present the demographic data according to the variables examined.

# Table 1

# Distribution of Demographics and Individual Factors

Characteristics	Frequency	Percentages
Age		
40-49	158	45.3%
50-59	123	35.2%
60-69	50	14.3%
70-85	18	5.2%
Education High school education or less	99	28.4%
Some college education	88	25.2%
4 years of education or more	162	46.4%
Health Insurance Status		
Have health insurance	265	75.9%
Does not have health insurance	84	24.1%
Total Family Income		
\$0-\$34,999	165	47.3%
\$35,000-\$74,999	97	27.8%
\$75,000 and above	87	24.9%
Perception of Health Status		
Good	307	88.0%
Poor	42	12.0%
Having a Usual Place for Medical Care		
Yes	288	82.5%
No	61	17.5%
Number of Years Stayed in United States		
5 years or more (established immigrants)	321	92.0%
Less than 5 years (recent immigrants)	28	8.0%
Language of Interview		
English Language	340	97.4%
Other language	9	2.6%

# **Results of Analysis**

I conducted a chi-square test of independence and a simple and multiple logistic regression to examine the relationship between colorectal cancer screening and the independent variables including level of education, family income, health insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, length of stay in the United States, language of interview, and perceived health status. The results of the analyses are shown in Table 2, Table 3, and Table 4 respectively.

# Table 2

Number of participants N=349	Ever had colonoscop	у	<i>P</i> -value	
	Yes	No		
Number of participants	90	259		
Level of education				
High school education or less	23(25.6%)	76(29.3%)	.704	
Some college education	22(24.4%)	66(25.5%)		
4 years of college degree or higher	45(50.0%)	117(45.2%)		
Total family income				
\$0-\$34,999	34(37.8%)	131(50.6%)	.163	
\$35,000-\$74,999	27(30.0%)	70(27.0%)		
\$75,000 and more	29(32.2%)	58(22.4%)		
Insurance status				
Have health insurance coverage	83(92.2%)	182(70.3%)	.000	
No health insurance coverage	7(7.8%)	77(29.7%)		
Having a usual place of medical care				
Yes	89(98.9%)	199(76.8%)	.000	
No	1(1.1%)	60(23.2%)		
Language of interview				
English language	88(97.8%)	252(97.3%)	1.00	
Other language	2(2.2%)	7(2.7%)		
Years stayed in United States				
Less than 5 years	1(1.1%)	27(10.4%)	.005	
5 years and over	89(98.9%)	232(89.6%)		
Perceived health status				
Good	72(80.0%)	235(90.7%)	.007	
Poor	18(20.0%)	24(9.3%)		

# Chi-Square Test of Independence of the Dependent and Independent Variables

# Table 3

*Results of Simple Logistic Regression Analysis of Independent Variables and Colorectal Cancer Testing* 

Variable	В	S.E	Wald	df	Sig.	ExpB	95%C.I. for ExpB	
							Lower	Upper
Usual care place	-3.29	1.01	10.47	1	.001	.03	.005	.27
Insurance status	1.61	.41	15.00	1	.000	5.01	2.21	11.34
Stay in U.S	2.33	1.02	5.19	1	.023	10.35	1.38	77.36
Interview lang.	.20	.81	.06	1	.80	1.22	.24	5.99
Health status	89	.34	6.94	1	.008	.40	.21	.79
Edu. level			70	2	.705			
Edu. level(1)	24	.29	.66	1	.417	.79	.44	1.40
Edu. level(2)	-1.43	.30	.22	1	.636	.87	.49	1.56
Income total			5.04	2	.080			
Income total(1)	66	.29	4.84	1	.028	.52	.29	.93
Income total(2)	26	.32	.65	1	.419	.77	.41	1.45

Note. variable(s) entered on step 1: Usual place for care, Insurance status, Stay in US, Interview Lang, Health status, Education level, Income total.

Ref. categories: have a place for usual medical care, have no insurance, recent immigrants, interview in English language, good health status, 4 years of college degree and above, high income group.

#### Socioeconomic Status and Colorectal Cancer Screening

To answer Research Question 1, I used a chi-square test of independence to examine whether socioeconomic status measured by the level of education and total family income was associated with colorectal cancer screening. I assigned the level of education into three categories: high school education or less, some college education, and four years of college or higher. The results showed that when there was no association between education level and colorectal cancer screening, 25 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 23 participants got a colonoscopy, and 73 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy but 76 participants did not get a colonoscopy for the high school education or less category. For some college education category, 22 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy and the same number of participants expected got a colonoscopy, and 65 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy but 66 participants did not get a colonoscopy. For the 4 years of college and above category, 41 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 45 participants got a colonoscopy, and while 120 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy, 117 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the Pearson chi-square test of independence { $\chi^2 = .702$ , df = 2, p = .704 (p > .05)}, there is no statistically significant association between level of education and colorectal cancer screening. Simple logistic regression was carried out to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and socioeconomic status. The result of the simple logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and education level in Table 3 above showed that education level did not significantly predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald

statistics = .70, df = 2, p = .705 {p > .05}). Therefore, there is no statistically significant association between education level and colorectal cancer screening. Based on the result of chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis is retained, and the conclusion was that there was no statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and education level. Further, using the participants who had 4 years of college or more as reference group, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp(B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that though there was no statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and education level, participants in high school education or less category had lower odds of getting colorectal cancer screening than the participants with 4 years of college education or more  $\{B = -$ .24, Exp (B) = .79, 95% CI (0.441, 1.405). In the same vein, compared to the participants with 4 years of college education and above, thr participants with some college degree had lower odds of getting colonoscopy  $\{B = -.14, Exp(B) = .867, 95\% CI\}$ (.479, 1.567).

To test for association between colorectal cancer screening and total family income, I assigned total family income into three categories: \$0-34,999 (low income), \$35,000-\$74,999 (middle income), and \$ 75,000 or more (high income). The results showed that when there was no association between colorectal cancer screening and total family income, among the participants in the low income category, 42 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 34 participants got a colonoscopy, and while 122

participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy, 131 participants did not get a colonoscopy. For participants in middle-income category, 25 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 27 participants got a colonoscopy, and while 72 participants were not expected to get a colonoscopy, 70 participants did not get a colonoscopy. For participants in high-income category, 22 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 29 participants got a colonoscopy, and while 64 participants were not expected to get a colonoscopy, 58 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the Pearson chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 = 5.116$ , df = 2, p = .077 {p > .05}), there is no statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and total family income. Simple logistic regression was carried out to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and total family income. The result of the simple logistic regression as shown in Table 3 above indicated that total family income did not significantly predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistics = 5.04, df = 2,  $p = 0.080 \{p > .05\}$ ). Therefore, there is no statistically significant association between total family income and colorectal cancer screening. Based on the result of chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis was retained, and the conclusion was that there was no association between colorectal cancer screening and total family income. Further, using the participants in the high-income category as a reference group, though there was no statistically significant association between total family income and colorectal cancer screening, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable,

and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that the participants in lowincome group had lower odds of getting colorectal cancer screening than the participants in high-income group {B = -.66, Exp (B) = .52, 95% CI (.29, 0.93)}. Similarly, the participants in middle-income group had lower odds of getting colorectal cancer screening than the participants in the high-income group {B = -.69, Exp (B) = .77, 95% CI (41, 1.45)}.

#### Acculturation and Colorectal Cancer Screening

To answer Research Question 2, I conducted a chi-square test of independence to assess the association between acculturation measured by the number of years lived in the United States and language of interview and colorectal cancer screening. To determine the association between colorectal cancer screening and number of years lived in the United States, I categorized the participants into two groups: recent immigrants (lived less than 5 years in the United States) and established immigrants (lived in the United States for 5 years or more). The result of the chi-square test of independence showed that when there was no association between colorectal cancer screening and number of years lived in the United States, among established immigrants, 82 participants were expected to have a colonoscopy but 89 participants did get a colonoscopy, and while 238 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy, 232 participants got a colonoscopy. Among participants who are recent immigrants, 7 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but one participant had a colonoscopy, and while 20 participants were expected not to have had a colonoscopy, 27 participants got a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 = 7.851$ , df = 1, p = .005 {p < .05}), there

is a statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and number of years stayed in the United States. Simple logistic regression was carried out to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and acculturation measured by the number of years lived in the United States and language of interview. The result of the simple logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and number of years lived in the United States indicated that the number of years lived in the United States significantly predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistics = 5.19, df = 1,  $p = .023 \{p < .05\}$ ). Therefore based on the chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis was rejected and the alternate hypothesis was retained. The conclusion was that the number of years lived in the United States had a statistically significant association with colorectal cancer screening. Further, using the recent immigrants as a reference group, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the recent immigrants, the established immigrants were more likely to get colonoscopy  $\{B = 2.34, \dots, N\}$ Exp (B) = 10.36, 95% CI (1.39, 77.37).

To assess the association between language of interview and colorectal cancer screening, I categorized the participants into two groups: participants who interviewed in English and participants who interviewed in other languages. The chi-square test of independence showed that when there was no relationship between colorectal cancer screening and language of interview, among the participants that were interviewed in English, 87 participants were expected to have a colonoscopy but 88 had a colonoscopy, and while 252 participants were expected not to have a colonoscopy, the same number of participants expected had a colonoscopy. Among the participants that interviewed in other languages, two participants were expected to have a colonoscopy, the same number of participants expected had a colonoscopy, and six participants were expected not to have a colonoscopy, 7 participants did not get colonoscopy. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 = .061$ , df = 1, p = .804 {p > .05}), there is no statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and language of interview. Also, I carried out simple logistic regression to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and language of interview. The result of the simple logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and the language of interview as shown in Table 3 above indicated that language of interview did not significantly predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistics = .06, p = 0.805 {p > .05}). Therefore, the null hypothesis is retained and the conclusion was that there was no statistically significant association between language of interview and colorectal cancer screening. Further, using the participants who interviewed in other languages as a reference group, though there was no significant association between colorectal cancer screening and interview language, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome occurring associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the participants who interviewed in other languages, the participants who interviewed in English had higher odds of getting colonoscopy  $\{B = .20, Exp (B) = 1.22, 95\% CI (.249, 5.994)\}$ .

#### Perception of Health Status and Colorectal Cancer Screening

To answer Research Question 3, I conducted a chi-square test of independence to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and perceived health status. I categorized the participants into two groups: good health status and poor health status. The chi-square test of independence showed that among the participants that have good health status, 79 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy but 72 participants got a colonoscopy, and while 227 participants were expected not to have had a colonoscopy, 235 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Among the participants that have poor health status, 10 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy, 18 participants got a colonoscopy, and 31 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy, 24 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 =$ 7.269, df = 1, p = .007 {p < .05}), there is a statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and perceived health status. I also carried out a simple logistic regression to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and perceived health status. The result of the simple logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and perceived health status as shown in Table 3 above indicated that perceived health status significantly predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistic = 6.95, df=1,  $p = .008 \{p < .05\}$ ). Therefore, based on the chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis was rejected and the alternate hypothesis was retained. The conclusion was that there was a statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and perceived health status. Further, using the participants in poor health status as a reference group, the B

coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the participants who have poor health status, the participants who have good health status were less likely to get colonoscopy (B= -.89, Exp(B) = .41, 95% CI {.210, .795}).

# Access to Health Care and Colorectal Cancer Screening

To answer Research Question 4, I conducted a chi-square test of independence to assess the association between access to health care measured by insurance status and having a usual place for medical care and colorectal cancer screening. I categorized the participants into two groups: participants who have health insurance and participants who do not have health insurance. The result showed that when there was no association between health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening, 68 participants who have health insurance coverage were expected to get a colonoscopy, 83 participants got a colonoscopy, and 196 participants were expected not to get colonoscopy, 182 participants did not get a colonoscopy. In the category that did not have health insurance coverage, 21 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy, seven participants got a colonoscopy, and 62 participants were not expected to get a colonoscopy, 77 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 = 17.61$ , df = 1,  $p = .000 \{p < .05\}$ ), there is a statistically significant association between health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening. Further, I carried out simple logistic regression to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and access to health care measured by having a usual place for medical care and health insurance

status. The result of the simple logistic regression as shown in Table 3 above indicated that health insurance status significantly predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistics = 15.00, df = 1, p = .000 {p < .05}). Therefore, there is a statistically significant association between health insurance status and colorectal cancer screening. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis was rejected and the alternate hypothesis was retained. The conclusion was that there was a statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and health insurance status. Also, using the group of participants who do not have a health insurance coverage as a reference group, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the participants who do not have a health insurance coverage, the participants who have health insurance coverage were more likely to get colonoscopy  $\{B = 1.63, Exp(B) = 5.02, \dots \}$ 95% CI (2.22, 11.35)}.

To test the association between having a usual place for medical care and colorectal cancer screening using chi-square test of independence, I categorized study participants into two groups: participants who have a usual place for medical care and participants who do not have a usual place for medical care. The result of the chi-square test showed that when there was no association between colonoscopy screening and having a usual place for medical care, among participants who have a usual place for medical care, 74 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy, 89 participants got a colonoscopy, and 213 participants were not expected to get a colonoscopy, 199 did not get a colonoscopy. Among the participants who do not have a usual place for medical care, 15 participants were expected to get a colonoscopy, one participant got a colonoscopy, and 45 participants were expected not to get a colonoscopy, 60 participants did not get a colonoscopy. Based on the result of the chi-square test of independence ( $\chi^2 =$ 22.52, df = 1, p = .000 {p < .05}, there is a statistically significant association between having a usual place of medical care and colorectal cancer screening. Further, I carried out a simple logistic regression analysis to assess the association between colorectal cancer screening and having a usual place for medical care. The result of the simple logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and having a usual place for medical care as shown in Table 3 above indicated that having a usual place for medical care significantly predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not (Wald statistics = 10.48, df = 1,  $p = .001 \{p < .05\}$ ). Therefore, there is a statistically significant association between having a usual place for medical care and colorectal cancer screening. Based on the results of the chi-square test and simple logistic regression, the null hypothesis was rejected and the alternate hypothesis was retained. The conclusion was that there was a statistically significant association between colorectal cancer screening and having a usual place for medical care. Using the group of participants who have a usual place for medical care as a reference group, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome variable (natural logarithm of the odds of outcome occurring) associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp(B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the participants who have a

usual place for medical care, the participants who do not have a usual place for medical care were less likely to get a colonoscopy  $\{B=-3.2, Exp(B)=.04, 95\% \text{ CI } (.005, .273)\}$ .

# **Multinomial Logistic Regression**

I conducted a multiple logistic regression analysis to show the odds of predicting colorectal cancer screening when all the predictor variables were in the model. The predictor variables in the model included having a usual place for medical care, health insurance status, total family income, level of education, number of years lived in the United States, language of interview, and perceived health status. The result of the analysis is as shown in Table 4 below.
### Table 4

Variable	В	S.E	Wald	df	Sig.	ExpB	95%C.I. for ExpB	
							Lower	Upper
Step 1 <sup>ª</sup> Usual care place	-2.84	1.03	7.61	1	.006	.06	.01	.44
Insurance status	1.11	.45	6.06	1	.014	3.04	1.25	7.36
Stay in U.S	2.10	1.06	3.96	1	.046	8.17	1.03	64.67
Interview lang.	.07	.93	.01	1	.940	1.07	.17	6.61
Health status	-1.15	.39	8.48	1	.004	.32	.15	.69
Edu. level			.16	2	.920			
Edu. level(1)	06	.37	.02	1	.876	.94	.46	1.94
Edu. level(2)	.10	.35	.07	1	.788	1.10	.55	2.19
Income total			.01	2	.940			
Income total(1)	43	.38	1.31	1	.252	.65	.31	1.36
Income total(2)	11	.36	.09	1	.764	.89	.44	1.81
Constant	-2.67	1.53	3.06	1	.080	.07		

*Results of Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis of Independent Variables and Colorectal Cancer Testing* 

Note. variable(s) entered on step 1: usual place for care, Insurance status, stay in US, Interview Lang, health status, Education level, Income total. Reference categories are have a place for usual medical care, have no insurance, recent immigrants, interview in English language, poor health status, 4 years of college degree and above, high income group The result of the multinomial logistic regression between colorectal cancer screening and the predictor variables showed that the model was a good fit (Omnibus tests of model coefficients,  $\chi^2 = 57.62$ , df = 9, p = .000 {p < .05}}. The model correctly predicted 75.1% of the times whether a participant would get colonoscopy or not. It is shown in Table 4 above that four of the predictor variables including having a usual place for medical care {Wald statistics = 7.61, df = 1, p = .006 (p < .05)}, insurance status {Wald statistics = 6.06, df = 1, p = .014 (p < .05)}, length of stay in the United States {Wald statistics = 3.96, df = 1, p = .046 (p < .05)}, and perceived health status {Wald statistics = 8.48, df = 1, p = .004 (p < .05)} significantly predicted whether a participant would get colorectal cancer screening or not. However, three of the predictor variables including interview language {Wald statistics = 0.01, df = 1, p = .940 (p > .05)}, education level {Wald statistics = 0.16, df = 2, p = .920 (p > .05)}, and total family income {Wald statistics = .01, df = 1, p = .940 (p > .05)} did not significantly predict whether a participant would get colorectal cancer screening or not.

Further, the multiple regression analysis revealed that using the group of participants who have a usual place for medical care as a reference group, the B coefficient, which represented the logit of the outcome occurring associated with a one-unit change in the predictor variable, and the Exp (B), which represented the odds ratio indicated that compared to the participants who have a usual place for medical care, the participants who do not have a usual place for medical care were less likely to get a colonoscopy  $\{B = -2.84, Exp(B) = .06, 95\%$  CI ( .01, .44) $\}$ . Using the group of participants who do not have health insurance as a reference group, the participants who

have health insurance coverage were more likely to get a colonoscopy compared to the participants who have no health insurance coverage  $\{B = 1.11, Exp(B) = 3.04, 95\%$  CI (1.25, 7.36}. Using the recent immigrants as a reference group, the established immigrants were more likely to get a colonoscopy compared to the recent immigrants  $\{B = 2.10, Exp(B) = 8.17, 95\%$  CI (1.03, 64.67)}. The multiple logistic regression analysis also revealed that using the participants with perceived poor health status as a reference group, the participants with perceived good health status were less likely to get a colonoscopy compared to the participants with perceived poor health status  $\{B = -1.15, Exp(B) = .32, 95\%$  CI (.15,.69}.

### Summary

In this chapter, I reported the results of the statistical analysis used to assess the relationship between colorectal cancer screening and number of years stayed in the United States, interview language, educational level, total family income, perceived health status, having a usual place for medical care, and health insurance status. I also reported how each of the independent variables predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not. The results of the chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression analysis showed that number of years stayed in the United States, perceived health status, having a usual place for medical care, and health insurance status had a statistically significant association with colorectal cancer screening among Africanborn immigrants living in the United States. However, other predictor variables such as interview language, total family income, and education level did not have a statistically

significant association with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

Multiple regression analysis showed that having a usual place for medical care, health insurance status, number of years stayed in the United States, and perceived health status predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not. However, interview language, total family income, and education level did not predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy or not. Further, when all the predictor variables were in the model, the participants who do not have a usual place for medical care were less likely to get a colonoscopy compared to participants who have a usual place for medical care. The participants who do not have health insurance were less likely to get a colonoscopy compared to participants who have health insurance. Compared to established immigrants, recent immigrants were less likely to get a colonoscopy. Further, the analysis showed that participants with perceived good health status were less likely to get a colonoscopy compared to participants with perceived poor health status. In Chapter 5, I interpreted and discussed the study findings in the light of existing literature. I also discussed the significance of the study findings, recommendations for future study, and conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This quantitative cross-sectional study was designed to examine factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. I merged and analyzed 2010, 2013, and 2015 data sets from the NHIS that contained information about 349 African immigrants age 40 years and above living in the United States who identified Africa as the region of birth. In this chapter, I reported the relevant findings of the study and discussed how certain predictor variables affected screening for colorectal cancer among the study population. I also explained the social change implications of the study, limitations, and recommendations for future studies.

The immigrant health utilization model, which provided the theoretical base for this study, posits that clusters of factors that affect health care services utilization (a) predisposition to use of health services, which is shaped by demographics, social structure, and health beliefs; (b) enabling factors, which include personal or family resources (income, regular source of care, health insurance) and community resources (health personnel and facilities); (c) need for care, which includes perceived needs and professionally evaluated needs; and (d) contextual and macrostructural factors. The identification of factors that affect health care services utilization, such as colorectal cancer screening services among specific populations and communities, is imperative because the rate at which individuals and groups avail themselves of available health care services affects their health outcomes (Yang & Hwang, 2016).

In this study, I examined the association between colorectal cancer screening (dependent variable) and independent variables such as total family income, education

100

level, having a usual place for medical care, health insurance status, number of years lived in the United States, language of interview, and perceived health status. The level of education and family income, which are indicators of socioeconomic status, were assessed under the predisposing domain. Having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status, which are indicators of access to health care, were assessed under the enabling domain, and perceived health status was assessed under the needs domain. The length of stay in the United States in years and language of the interview, which are indicators of acculturation, were assessed under the predisposing domain. The analysis of the data using a chi-square test of independence and simple logistic regression showed that having a usual place for medical care, insurance status, number of years lived in the United States, and perceived health status were significantly associated with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. However, education level, total family income, and interview language were not significantly associated with colorectal cancer screening among the immigrant population. Also, multiple logistic regression analysis revealed that having a usual place for medical care, health insurance status, number of years stayed in the United States, and perceived health status predicted whether a participant would get a colonoscopy. However, interview language, total family income, and education level did not predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy among African-born immigrants living in the United States.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

In the following sections, I summarized the major findings of this study under these subheadings in line with the research questions and corresponding hypotheses. I also interpreted the results of this study in the context of existing literature and established concepts in the field of colorectal cancer research.

# Finding 1: Low Colorectal Cancer Screening Prevalence Among African-Born Immigrants in the United States

In this study, 90 participants stated they had a colonoscopy in the past, which represented 25 % of the participants, while 259 said they never had a colonoscopy, which represented 74.2% of the participants. The low screening prevalence among the participants was consistent with the finding that screening prevalence is low among immigrant populations in the United States (ACS, n.d; Reyes & Miranda, 2015; Shahidi et al., 2013; Shih et al., 2008). According to the ACS (n.d.), immigrants have lower screening rates than native-born Americans. For example, in 2015 in the United States, the colorectal cancer screening prevalence was 65% among native-born Americans, but immigrants who had lived in the United States for less than 10 years had screening prevalence of 34%, and those who had lived 10 years or more in United States had screening prevalence of 52% (ACS, n.d). The implication of low screening prevalence among African-born immigrants is that they are not using colorectal cancer screening services available in the United States. Opportunities for early colorectal cancer screening are often missed, thereby putting the immigrant population at risk of developing invasive colorectal cancer. Although efforts are being made to increase colorectal cancer screening among the populations of the United States, the results of this study suggested that some segments of the U. S. population may be experiencing barriers in getting the test. There is a need to adopt strategies that will increase colorectal cancer screening prevalence in

every segment of population of the United States, which will help improve the chance of achieving the targeted 80% screening prevalence nationwide by 2018, an initiative that is championed by American Cancer Society, the Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, and the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable (ACS, n.d.).

## Finding 2: Socioeconomic Status Is Not Significantly Associated With Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in the United States

In this study, I measured socioeconomic status by education level and total family income. The results of the statistical analysis showed that education level did not have a significant association with colorectal cancer screening, and education level did not predict whether a participant got a colonoscopy. This result was contrary to available evidence that showed that education level correlates with health services utilization. Szwarcwald et al. (2010) conducted a study in Brazil using 5000 respondents, and the results showed that less educated people used health services less frequently than more educated people. T. Davis et al. (2001) found that people with limited education have low colorectal cancer screening rates. Also Guerra, Dominguez, and Shea (2005) found that education level predicted the utilization of colorectal cancer screening among Latinos in the United States. The inability of education level to predict and influence screening for colorectal cancer among African-born immigrants suggests the need to explore other factors that may affect the decision to screen for colorectal cancer among the study population. For example, Guerra et al. found that physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening was a strong motivator to get screened for colorectal cancer among Latinos in the United States regardless of education level.

To assess the association between total family income and colorectal cancer screening, I divided total family income of participants into different groups: low income (\$0-\$34,999), middle income (\$35,000-\$74,999), and high income (\$75,000 and more). The analysis of the demographics of the study participants showed that 87(24.9%) of the participants were in the high-income group, 97(27.8%) were in the middle-income group, and 165(47.2%) were in the low-income group. Having a higher percentage of participants in the low-income group was consistent with the findings of Aguilera and Massey (2003) and Kwainoe (n.d.) who observed that immigrants, especially new immigrants, tend to have unskilled and low-paying jobs, which may have profound effects on their use of health care services.(Yang & Hwang, 2016)

In the current study, statistical analysis showed that family income was not significantly associated with colorectal cancer screening, and did not predict whether a participant would get screened for colorectal cancer. In previous studies, the effect of income on the use of health care services was mixed. Sambamoorthi and McAlpine (2003) found that high income predicted use of preventive health care services among women in the United States. Morris, Sutton, and Gravelle (2004) revealed that the use of secondary health care services was high among high-income individuals compared to people with low income. However, Ross, Bradley, and Busch (2006) found that higher income did not affect the differences in the use of preventive health care services for cancer prevention among insured and uninsured American adults. Results of the current study suggest that while income category may not be significantly associated with colorectal cancer screening as an individual variable, its effect on colorectal cancer

screening should be examined relative to other variables that may have a substantial influence on colorectal cancer screening.

# Finding 3: Acculturation Is Significantly Associated With Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-born Immigrants in the United States

In this study, I measured acculturation by the number of years lived in the United States and interview language. According to Yang and Hwang (2016), acculturation is often measured by length of stay in the host country and proficiency in English, and that a higher level of English proficiency and a longer stay in the host country indicate a higher level of assimilation into the host country's culture. Results of the current study showed that the number of years lived in the United States was significantly associated with colorectal cancer screening, and also predicted whether a participant would get colorectal cancer screening. This result was consistent with findings that acculturation affects health care utilization among immigrants. According to Lebrun (2012), immigrants with a shorter length of stay and limited language proficiency in the United States and Canada had a lower rate of access to health services compared with those with a longer stay. Johnson (2010) used 2005 California Health Interview Survey data collected from 1496 foreign-born Mexican American men and women who were 50 years old and above to carry out a study. The results showed that more acculturated Mexican Americans were 3 to 4 times more likely to get screened for colorectal cancer, while less acculturated Mexican Americans were 2 times more likely not to screen for colorectal cancer. Acculturation may be critical for African-born immigrants in the United States in terms of getting colorectal cancer screening because the study participants migrated from

a continent where colorectal cancer is considered a rarity (see Katsidzira et al., 2015) and there is a low level of awareness of the disease among the populace (see Busolo & Woodgate, 2015) These circumstances may result in African-born immigrants not being used to going for routine screening for colorectal cancer while they lived on the African continent. Analysis of the demographics of the study sample showed that out of 90 participants who had a colonoscopy, 89(98.9%) were established immigrants while 1(1.1%) was a recent immigrant. This result echoed the position of the immigrant health services utilization model that the extent of adaptation to the culture and social systems of the host country, including the health care system, impacts immigrants' health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Getting more acculturated in the United States may have contributed to established immigrants' higher inclination to getting screened for colorectal cancer than recent immigrants. A system that is more welcoming to immigrants, and policies that make it easy for immigrants to get incorporated into the culture and social networks of the United States, may help foster increased screening for colorectal cancer among the study population.

Interview language did not have a significant association with colorectal cancer screening, and did not predict whether a participant would get a colonoscopy. In previous studies, language of interview was operationalized as a measure of acculturation (Lee, Nguyen, & Tsui, 2011). Lebrun (2012) found that in Canada, immigrants who have limited English proficiency had lower odds of health services utilization. However, in the current study, analysis of the demographics of the study sample showed that 340 (97.4%) participants interviewed in English, while 9(2.6%) interviewed in other languages. The

reason why language of interview did not have a significant association with colorectal cancer screening and did not predict colorectal cancer screening may be because most of the participants (340) interviewed in English, and so the language of interview did not have a significant effect on whether a participant would get a colonoscopy.

## Finding 4: Perception of Health Status Is Significantly Associated With Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-Born Immigrants in the United States

To assess the association between perception of health status and colorectal cancer screening, I categorized the study participants into two groups: good health status and poor health status. The immigrant health services utilization model posits that the use of health services by individuals is based on need factors that include an individual's health status, which may be self- or professionally rated (Yang & Hwang, 2016). According to the model, immigrants who have good health status are less likely to use health services than those with poor health status because of less need. Several studies supported the position of the immigrant health services utilization model. For example, Cho, Guallar, Hsu, Shin, and Lee (2010) found that people with poor health status had higher cancer screening rates than those who perceived they had good health status. Also, Hernandez-Quevedo and Jimenez-Rubio (2009) found that poor health status increased the tendency to use health care services relative to being in good health. However, Fatone and Jandorf (2009) did not find any significant differences in individuals' pattern of cancer screening based on health status.

In the current study, the statistical analysis showed that perception of health status had a statistically significant association with colorectal cancer screening and also

predicted whether a participant would get screened for colorectal cancer. Logistic regression showed that participants with perceived poor health status were more likely to screen for colorectal cancer than those in good health status. This result was consistent with the position of the immigrant health services utilization model and studies that found health status to be a predictor of health care services utilization. Worthy of note is that out of 307 participants who perceived themselves to be in good health, only 72 participants who represented 23.4% of participants in good health had colorectal cancer screening. It may be rational to state that 235 participants that represented 76.35% of those in good health did not get screened for colorectal cancer probably because they did not believe they are vulnerable to colorectal cancer. The finding in this study that perceived good health status made people less likely to get screened for colorectal cancer may be a salient factor to consider while developing public health intervention programs aimed at improving rate of colorectal cancer screening in the United States. Given that there are no symptoms when polyps develop in the epithelial cells lining intestinal mucosa, which eventually grow into invasive colorectal cancer overtime, public health interventions should target the correlation between perceived health status, knowledge of colorectal cancer, and the need for colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States.

### Finding 5: Access to Health Care Is Significantly Associated With Colorectal Cancer Screening Among African-born Immigrants in the United States

In this study, access to health care was measured by health insurance status and having a usual place for medical care. The analysis of data revealed that both having a usual place for medical care and insurance status had a significant association with colorectal cancer screening, and also predicted whether a participant would get colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. The association of having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status with colorectal cancer screening, and their ability to predict colorectal cancer screening were consistent with the findings that health insurance status and having a usual place for medical care predict health services utilization (Yang & Hwang, 2016). Several studies have found that having access to medical care increased health services utilization (Lebrun & Dubay, 2010; Ye, Mack, Fry-Johnson, & Packer, 2012). According to the ACS (n.d.), people who have health insurance and usual place for medical care are more likely to get colorectal cancer screening than those who do not have health insurance and usual place for medical care.

The current study revealed that out of the 90 participants who had a colonoscopy, 83(92.2%) had health insurance and 7(7.8%) participants did not have health insurance. Also, while 89(98.9%) participants had a usual place for medical care, 1(1.1%) participants did not have a usual place for medical care. The result of the analysis of the demographics of the participants supported the result of the logistic regression in the current study that participants who do not have a usual place for medical care were less likely to get screened for colorectal cancer than those who have a usual place for medical care that have health insurance were less likely to get screened for colorectal cancer that participants who do not have health insurance were less likely to get screened for colorectal cancer and that participants who have health insurance. These results leave no doubt that having a place for medical care and having health insurance was critical to getting screened for colorectal cancer among the

study population. However, the demographics of the study population showed that out of 349 participants, 265(75.9%) had health insurance and 288(82.5%) had a usual place for medical care, yet colorectal cancer screening prevalence remained low (25%) among the study population. Therefore, the influence of having a usual place for medical care and health insurance status on colorectal cancer screening should be examined relative to other factors that may affect colorectal cancer screening such as level of knowledge of colorectal cancer screening, doctor recommendation for colorectal cancer screening, and sociocultural factors among others.

### Limitation of the study

This study is inherent with several limitations. In the NHIS primary data, information was collected only from noninstitutionalized population in the United States. Groups of individuals who are part of the population of the United States that were not included in the primary data include people in nursing homes, juvenile detention, prisons, halfway houses, and personnel in active duty. The non-inclusion of these groups of individuals in this study may have some implication in the interpretation of the study findings.

The information in the primary data collected from the study participants was self-reported. The possibility of discrepancies existing between self-reported receipt of colorectal cancer screening and actual receipt of colorectal cancer screening among the study participants cannot be ruled out as studies have shown that there may be differences in self-reported use of health care services and actual receipt of it among study participants (Rauscher, Johnson, Cho, & Walk, 2008). The possibility of recall bias

among the participants puts a limitation on the study as participants may not accurately recall past events. Also, studies have shown that study participants may provide socially satisfactory responses during interview surveys (Blackwell et al., 2008), and it cannot be ruled out that some participants in this study may have given socially acceptable answers to some of the interview questions. The above, in addition to recall bias, may result in over-estimation or under-estimation of colorectal cancer screening among the study participants.

This study is limited to the primary data collected from the NHIS. Research questions in this study were limited to the information available in the primary data. The limitation this brought to bear on the study resulted in not investigating some other factors that may have influenced colorectal cancer screening among the study population. In the primary data, the identification of participants was from their region of birth and not based on their country of birth. As a result, all participants were grouped as Africans. Regarding the study participants as one homogenous group gave no chance for the exploration of differences among the population of immigrants from African countries. According to Lee, Ju, Vang, and Lundquist (2010), there were differences in breast cancer screening behaviors among subgroups of Asian Americans, which suggested that there could be differences in health behaviors within subgroups of a major ethnic group. This was not considered in this study because of the limit posed by the use of already existing data.

#### Recommendations

The findings from this study suggest that there is a need for more studies that may help reveal factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. The level of knowledge about colorectal cancer and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants have not been reported in the literature, and so future studies should be designed to uncover these needed information and how they influence colorectal cancer screening among the study population. Sociocultural factors have been found to affect decision for cancer screening among different populations in the United States (Purnell et al., 2010). Therefore qualitative studies that involve focus group discussions and other methods should be designed to explore and unearth the sociocultural factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among the study population. Such studies may generate relevant information that can enable health care providers to apply culturally appropriate cancer screening strategies among African-born immigrants in the United States, which may help increase rate of colorectal cancer screening among the population.

This study revealed that socioeconomic factors such as education level and total family income did not influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. The result was contrary to the position of Yang and Hwang (2016) in the immigrant health services utilization model that socioeconomic factors impact people's inclination to the use of health services. The finding may suggest that the relationship between socioeconomic factors and colorectal cancer screening among the study population is complicated. Future studies should explore the relationship

between socioeconomic factors and colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States relative to other variables that may have a strong influence on colorectal cancer screening. Finally, future studies should focus on exploring factors that affect cancer screening among African-born immigrants who are not fluent in English or Spanish. Such studies that are carried out in participants' native language may help encourage more participation in public health studies by Africans, and may reveal factors that influence the decision to undergo cancer screening, which participants may not accurately express in English.

### **Social Change Implication**

This study is significant because its findings added to the literature by revealing some of the factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. Being one of the first studies on colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States, this study may help put to an end the era of paucity of information on colorectal cancer screening among Africanborn immigrants in the United States by bringing about increased interest for research on the study population among researchers. Also, the findings from this study may provide a reference to future studies that may enable a better understanding of colorectal cancer practices and associated factors among African-born immigrants in the United States.

The information generated by this study may enable the understanding of specific factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States, which may be critical to the development of interventions that may be tailored to the population of African-born immigrants in the United States with a view

to increasing rate of colorectal cancer screening among the population. Implementing appropriate interventions shaped by the findings of this study may result in reduced morbidity and mortality from colorectal cancer among African-born immigrants in the United States. The above may not only lead to improved health outcomes of the population of African-born immigrants in the United States but may lead to improved health of the population of the United States as a whole as the health outcomes of a segment of the population of a country has the potential of impacting the overall health status of the entire country and her health care system (Chou, Johnson, & Blewett, 2010).

According to the ACS (n.d.), the 80% by 2018 initiative is a public health effort led by the American Cancer Society, the Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, and the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable with an objective of having 80% of adults 50 years and above in the United States screened for colorectal cancer by 2018. The low (25%) colorectal cancer screening prevalence among African-born immigrants revealed in this study is a far cry from the targeted 80% colorectal screening prevalence of the afore-stated initiative. This finding has brought to the fore one of the health care needs of a minority population in the United States. Research findings in this study points Africanborn immigrants in the United States to public health professionals and policymakers as one of the minority populations in the United States that are vulnerable to poor health outcomes, that should be targeted for public health programs aimed at improving adherence to colorectal cancer screening recommendations and other preventive health care services.

### Conclusion

This quantitative cross-sectional study examined factors that affect colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants living in the United States. In the study, I analyzed data from a sample of 349 African-born immigrants in the United States age 40 years and above who identified Africa as region of birth and participated in the NHIS interview survey in 2010, 2013, and 2015. I hypothesized that education level, family income, health insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, number of years lived in the United States, interview language, and perception of health status influenced the receipt of colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in United States.

Analysis using chi-square test of independence and logistic regression revealed that insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, number of years lived in the United States, and perception of health status had a significant association with colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. However, no statistically significant association was found between colorectal cancer and family income, education level, and language of interview among the study population. Multiple regression analysis showed that insurance status, having a usual place for medical care, number of years lived in the United States, and perception of health status significantly predicted the receipt of colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants. However, family income, education level, and language of interview did not predict whether people would get screened for colorectal cancer among the study population. Despite the limitations of this study, it has contributed to literature by revealing some of the factors that influence colorectal cancer screening among African-born immigrants in the United States. More studies are needed that may reveal other factors that may influence colorectal cancer screening and other preventive health care services among African-born immigrants in the United States.

#### References

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (n.d.). Access to healthcare: National healthcare quality report, 2011. Retrieved from http://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/index.html

Aguilera, M. B., & Massey, D. S. (2003). Social capital and the wages of Mexican migrants: New hypothesis and tests. *Social Forces*, 82(2), 671-701. doi:10.1353/sof.2004.0001

Ahmed, N., Pelletier, V., Winter, K., & Albatineh, A. (2013). Factors explaining racial/ethnic disparities in rates of physician recommendation for colorectal cancer screening. *American Journal of Public Health*, e1-e9. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301034

American Cancer Society. (n.d.). Colorectal cancer facts and figures 2014-2016. Retrieved from

http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/documents/document/acspc-

042280.pdf

- American Immigration Council (2015). The growing African immigrant population in the United States. Retrieved from http://immigrationimpact.com/2015/11/04/africanimmigrants-united-states/
- American Psychological Association. (n.d.). Socioeconomic status. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/topics/socioeconomic-status/

- Antecol, H., & Bedard, K. (2006). Unhealthy assimilation: Why do immigrants converge to American health status level? *Demography*, 43(2), 337-360. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1353/dem.2006.0011
- Anderson, R. M. (1995). Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: Does it matter? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 36, 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2137284
- Arnold, M., Sierra, M., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2017).
  Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. *Gut*, 66(4), 683-691. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310912
- Atkin, W., Edwards, R., Kralj-Hans, I., Wooldrage, K., Hart, R., Northover, J...Wardle, J. (2010). Once-only flexible sigmoidoscopy screening in prevention of colorectal cancer: A multi-center randomized control trial. *Lancet*, *375*(9726), 1624-1633. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60551-X
- Aune, D., Lau, R., Chan, D., Vieira, R., Greenwood, D., Kampman, E., & Norat, T.
  (2012). Dairy products and colorectal cancer risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies. *Annals of Onclogy*, 23(1), 37-45.
  doi:10.1093/annonc/mdr269
- Bains, S., Mahic, M., Myklebust, T., Smastuen, M., Yaqub, S., Dorum, L.,...Tasken, K. (2016). Aspirin as secondary prevention in patients with colorectal cancer: An unselected population based study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *34*(21), 2501-2508. doi:10.1200/JCO.2015.65.3519

Bagnardi, V., Rota, M., Botteri, E., Tramacere, I., Islami, F., Fedirko, V.,...La Vecchia,
C. (2015). Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: A comprehensive dose-response meta-analysis. *British Journal of Cancer*, *112*, 580-593.
doi:10.1038/bjc.2014.579

Benarroch-Gampel, J., Sheffield, K., Lin, Y., Kuo,Y., Goodwin, J., & Riall, T. (2012).
Colonoscopist and primary care physician supply and disparities in colorectal cancer screening. *Health Services Research*, 47(3), 1137-1157.
doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01355.x

- Bergmark, R., Barr, D., & Garcia, R. (2010). Mexican immigrants in the U. S. living far from the border may return to Mexico for health services. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *12*, 610-614. doi:10.1007/s10903-008-9213-8
- Bisschop, C., Gils, C., Emaus, M., Bueno-de-Mesquita, H., Monninkhof, E.,
  Boeing,H.,...May, A. (2014). Weight change later in life and colon and rectal cancer risk in participants in the EPIC-PANACEA study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99(1), 139-147. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.066530
- Blackwell, D. L., Martinez, M. E., & Gentleman, J. F. (2008). Women's compliance with Public health guidelines for mammograms and Pap tests in Canada and the United States. *Women's Health Issues, 18*, 85-99. doi:10.1016/j/whi.2007.10.006

Blackwell, D. L., Martinez, M. E., Gentleman, J. F., Sanmartin, C., & Berthelot, J. M.
(2009). Socioeconomic status and utilization of health care services in Canada and United States: Findings from a Binational Health Survey. *Medical Care, 47*, 1136-1146. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181adcbe9

- Botteri, E., Iodice, S., Bagnardi, V., Raimondi, S., Lowenfels, A., & Maisonneuve, P.
  (2008). Smoking and colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 300, 2765-2778. doi:10.1001/jama.2008.839
- Bouvard, V., Loomis, D., Guyton, K., Grosse, Y., Ghissassi, F., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., ...Straif, K. (2015). Carcinogenicity of consumption of red and processed meat. *Lancet Oncology*, 16, 1599-1600. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00444-1
- Bowman, J. A., Sanson-Fisher, R., & Redman, S. (1997). The accuracy of self-reported Pap smear utilization. *Social Science and Medicine*, 44(7), 969-976. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9089918
- Busolo, D., & Woodgate, R. (2015). Cancer prevention in Africa: A review of the literature. *Global Health Promotion*, 22(2), 31-39.
  doi:10.1177/1757975914537094
- Bustamante, A. V., Fang, H., Garza, H., Carter-Pokras, O., Wallace, S. P., Rizzo, J. A., & Ortega, A. N. (2012). Variations in healthcare access and utilization among Mexican immigrants: The role of documentation. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 14, 146-155. doi:10.1007/s10903-010-9406-9
- Butterworth, A., Higgins, J., & Pharoah, P. (2006). Relative and absolute risk of colorectal cancer for individuals with a family history: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Cancer*, 42(2), 216-227. Retrieved https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16338133
- Campbell, P.T., Patel, A.V., Newton, C.C., Jacobs, E. J., Gapstur, S. M. (2013). Associations of recreational physical activity and leisure time spent sitting with

colorectal cancer survival. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *31*, 876-885. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.45.9735

- Center for Applied Linguistics. (n.d.). Understanding assessment. Retrieved from http://www.cal.org/flad/tutorial/reliability/3andvalidity.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.-a). Cancer screening. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/immigrantrefugeehealth/guidelines/domestic/general/discuss ion/cancer-screening.html
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.-b). Colorectal cancer screening tests. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/colorectal/basic\_info/screening/tests.htm

- Center for Disease Prevention and Control. (n.d.-c). Design and estimation for the National Health Interview Survey, 2006-2015. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_02/sr02\_165.pdf
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control. (n.d.-d). National Health Interview Survey. The principal source of information on the health of U. S. population. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/brochure2010january.pdf
- Chalya, P., Mchembe, M., Mabula, J., Rambau, P., Jaka, H., Koy, M., Mkongo, E., & Masalu, N. (2013). Clinicopathological patterns and challenges of management of colorectal cancer in a resource-limited setting: a Tanzanian experience. *World Journal of Surgical Oncology*, *11*(88), 1-9. doi:10.1186/1477-7819-11-88.

- Chan, A., Giovannucci, E., Meyerhardt, J., Schernhammer, E., Curhan, G., & Fuchs, C.
  (2005). Long term use of Aspirin and Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs and risk of colorectal cancer. *Journal of American Medical Association, 294*(8), 914-923. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16118381
- Chan, D., Lau, R., Aune, D., Vieira, R., Greenwood, D., Kampman, E., & Norat, T.
  (2011). Red and processed meat and colorectal cancer incidence: Meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Plos One*, *6*(6), 1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.phone.0020456
- Charan, J., & Biswas, T. (2013). How to calculate sample size for different study designs in medical research. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *35*(2), 121-126. doi:10.4103/0253-7176.116232
- Chavez, L. R. (2012). Undocumented immigrants and their use of medical services in Orange County, California. *Social Science and Medicine*, *74*, 887-893. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.05.023
- Cho, J., Guallar, E., Hsu, Y., Shin, D., & Lee, W. (2010). A comparison of cancer survivors and in the general population: The Korean national health and nutrition examination survey (KNHANES) 2001-2007. *Cancer Causes and Control,* 21(12), 2203-2212. doi:10.1007/s10552-010-9640-4
- Choe, J., Koepsell, T., Heagerty, P., & Taylor, V. (2005). Colorectal cancer among Asians and Pacific Islanders in the U. S.: Survival disadvantage for the foreignborn. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, 29, 361-368. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16081223

- Chou, C., Johnson, P., & Blewett, L. (2010). Immigration and selected indicators of health status and healthcare utilization among the Chinese. *Journal of Immigrant* and Minority Health, 12, 470-479. doi:10.1007/s10903-009-9240-0
- Citarda, F., Tomaselli, G., Capocaccia, R., Barcherini, S., & Crespi, M. (2001). Efficacy in standard clinical practice of colonoscopic polyectomy in reducing colorectal cancer incidence. *Gut, 48*, 812-815. doi:10.1136/gut.48.6.812
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.)*. Mahwah, New Jersey, Lawrence Erlbaum
- Collazo, T., Jandorf, L., Thelemaque, L., Lee, K., & Itzkowitz, S. (2015). Screening colonoscopy among uninsured and underinsured urban minorities. *Gut Liver*, 9, 502-508. doi:10.5009/gnl14039
- Copeland, V., & Butler, J. (2007). Re-conceptualizing access: A cultural competence approach to improving mental health of African American women. *Social Work in Public Health, 23*(3), 35-58. doi:10.1080/19371910802148263
- Davis, D., Marcet, J., Frattini, J., Prather, A., Mateka, J., & Nfonsam, V. (2011). Is it time to lower the recommended screening age for colorectal cancer? *Journal of American College of Surgeons*, 213(3), 352-361.
  doi:10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.04.033

 Davis, T., Dolan, N., Ferreira, M., Tomori, C., Green, K., Sipler, A., & Bennett, C.
 (2001). The role of inadequate health literacy skills in colorectal cancer screening.
 *Cancer Investigation, 19*(2), 193-200. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11296623 de Wijkerslooth, T., de Haan, M., Stoop, E., Deutekom, M., Fockens, P., Bossuyt, P.,...
 Stoker, J. (2010). Study protocol: population screening for colorectal cancer by
 colonoscopy or CT colonography: A randomized controlled trial. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 10(1), 47. doi:10.1186/1471-230X-10-47

Dhingra, S. S., Zack, M., Strine, T., Pearson, W. S., & Balluz, L. (2010). Determining prevalence and correlates of psychiatric treatment with Andersen's behavioral model of health services use. *Psychiatric Service*, *61*, 524-528. doi:10.1176/ps.2010.61.5.524

- Dhooper, S. (2003). Health care needs of foreign-born Asian Americans. *Health and Social Work, 28,* 63-73. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12621934
- Dighe, S., Baig, M., Miles, A., McFall, M., & Sains, P. (2010). Colorectal cancer. *The AVMA Medical and Legal Journal*, *16* (6), 226-230. doi:10.1258/cr.2010.010055

Doubeni, C., Laiyemo, A., Klabunde, C., Young, A., Field, T., & Fletcher, R. (2010).
 Racial and ethnic trends of colorectal cancer screening among Medicare enrollees.
 *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 38(2), 184-191.
 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.037

Dunlop, S., Coyte, P., & McIsaac, W. (2000). Socio-economic status and the utilization

of physicians' services: Results from the Canadian National Population Health Survey. *Social Science and Medicine*, *51*(1), 123-133. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10817475

- Edwards, B., Ward, E., Kohler, B., Kohler, B., Eheman, C., Zauber, A...Ries, L. (2010). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975–2006, featuring colorectal cancer trends and impact of interventions (risk factors, screening, and treatment) to reduce future rates. *Cancer*, *116*, 544–573. doi:10.1002/cncr.24760
- Edwards, B., Noone, A., Mariotto, A., Simard, E., Boscoe, F., Henley, S...Ward, E.
  (2014). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2010, featuring comorbidity, prevalence and impact on survival among persons with lung, colorectal, breast or prostate cancer. *Cancer*, *120*, 1290-1314.
  doi:10.1002/cncr.28509
- Ellis, H. (2010). Anatomy of the caecum, appendix and colon. *Surgery, 29*(11), 1-4. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2010.10.008
- Fatone, A., & Jandorf, L. (2009). Predictors of cervical cancer screening among urban
  African Americans and Latinos. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 33(4),
  416-424. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19182986
- Fields, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics*. CA, Sage: Thousand Oaks.
- Flaskerud, J. H., & Kim, S. (1999). Health problems of Asian and Latino immigrants. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 34, 359-380. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10318729
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7<sup>th</sup> Ed.). New York, Worth Publishers

- Gany, F., Herrera, A., Avallone, M., & Changrani, J. (2006). Attitudes, knowledge, and health-seeking behaviors of five immigrant minority communities in the prevention and screening of cancer: A focus group approach. *Ethnicity and Health*, 11, 19-39. doi:10.1080/13557850500391394
- Gellad, Z., & Provenzale, D. (2010). Colorectal cancer: national and international perspective on the burden of disease and public health impact. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 2177-2190. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.056
- Gibbons, D., Sinha, A., Phillips, R., & Clark, S. (2011). Colorectal cancer: No longer the issue in familial adenomatous polyposis? *Familial Cancer*, 10(1), 11-20. doi:10.1007/s10689-010-9394-x
- Gilbert, A., & Kanarek, N. (2005). Colorectal cancer screening: Physician recommendation is influential advice to Marylanders. *Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 41, 367-379. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2005.01.008
- Giltay, E. J., Vollaard, A. M., & Kromhout, D. (2012). Self-rated health and physicianrated health as independent predictors of mortality in elderly men. *Age and Aging*, *41*, 165-171. doi:10.1093/ageing/afr161
- Goel, M., Wee, C., McCarthy, E., Davis, R., Ngo-Metzer, Q., & Phillips, R. (2003).
  Racial and ethnic disparities in cancer screening: The importance of foreign birth as a barrier to care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *18*, 1028-1035.
  Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14687262
- Gondos, A., Brenner, H., Wabinga, H., Pakin, D. (2005). Cancer survival in Kampala, Uganda. *British Journal of Cancer*, *92*, 1808-1812. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602540

- Gorin, S., & Heck, J. (2005). Cancer screening among Latino subgroups in the United States. *Preventive Medicine*, *40*(5), 515-526. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.09.031
- Graham, A., Adeloye, D., Grant, L., Theodoratou, E., & Campbell, H. (2012). Estimating the incidence of colorectal cancer in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic analysis. *Journal of Global Health*, 2(2). doi:10.7189/jogh.02.020404
- Guerra, C., Dominguez, F., & Shea, J. (2005). Literacy and knowledge, attitudes, and behavior about colorectal cancer screening. *Journal of Health Communication*, *10*(7), 651-663. doi:10.1080/10810730500267720
- Hallahan, M., & Rosenthal, R. (1996). Statistical power: Concepts, procedures, and applications. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 34, 489-499. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(95)00082-8
- Hannan, L., Jacobs, E., & Thun, M. (2009). The association between cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal cancer in a large prospective cohort from United States. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 18(12), 3362-3367.
  doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0661
- Harcourt, N., Ghebre, R., Whembolua, G., Zhang, Y., Osman, S., & Okuyemi, K. (2014).
  Factors associated with breast and cervical cancer screening behavior among
  African immigrant women in Minnesota. *Journal of Immigrant Minority Health*, *16*(3), 450-456. doi:10.1007/s10903-012-9766-4
- Hauck, F. R., Corr, K. E., Lewis, S. H., & Oliver, M.N. (2012). Health and health care of African refugees: An under-recognized minority. *Journal of the National Medical Association, 104*, 61-71. doi:10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30123-1

- Healthy People 2020 (n. d.). Access to health services. Retrieved from https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/Access-to-Health-Services
- Heresbach, D., Barrioz, T., Lapalus, M., Coumaros, D., Bauret, P., Potier, P.,...Ponchon, T. (2008). *Endoscopy*, *40*(4), 284-290. doi:10.1055/s-2007-995618
- Hernandez-Quevedo, C., & Jimenez-Rubio, D. (2009). A comparison of the health status and health care utilization patterns between foreigners and the national population in Spain: New evidence from the Spanish National Health Survey. *Social Science and Medicine*, 69(3), 370-378. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.05.005
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (2012). GLOBACON 2012: Estimated cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide in 2012. Retrieved from http://globocan.iarc.fr/Pages/fact\_sheets\_cancer.aspx
- Jass, J. R. (2007). Classification of colorectal cancer based on correlation of clinical, morphological and molecular features. *Histopathology*, 50, 113-130. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2006.02549.x
- Jemal, A., Bray, F., Center, M., Ferlay, J., Ward, E., & Forman, D. (2011). Global cancer statistics. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 61(2), 69-90. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/caac.20107/pdf

- Jiang, Y., Ben, Q., Shen, H., Lu, W., Zhang, Y., & Zhu, J. (2011). Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 26(11), 863-876. doi:10.1007./s10654-011-9617-y
- Johnson, K. L., Carroll, J. F., Fulda, K. G., Cardarelli, K., & Cardarelli, R. (2010).
  Acculturation and self-reported health among Hispanics using a socio-behavioral model: The North Texas Heart Study. *BMC Public Health 10*(53).
  doi:10.1186/1471-2458-10-53
- Johnson, C., Chen, M., Toledano, A., Heiken, J., Dachman, A., Kuo, M...Limburg, P. (2008). Accuracy of CT colonography for detection of large adenomas and cancers. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *359*, 1207-1217. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0800996
- Johnson-Kozlow, M. (2010). Colorectal cancer screening of Californian adults of Mexican origin as a function of acculturation. *Journal of Immigrant Minority Health*, 12, 454-461. doi:10.1007/s10903-009-9236-9
- Kadam, P., & Bhalerao, S. (2010). Sample size calculation. *International Journal of Avuryeda Research*, 1(1), 55-57. doi:10.4103/0974-7788.59946
- Katsidzira, L., Gangaidzo, I., Mapingure, M., & Matenga, J. (2015). Retrospective study of colorectal cancer in Zimbabwe: Colonoscopic and clinical correlates. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 21(8), 2374-2380. doi:10.3748/wjg.v21.i8.2374

- Kim, K., Chapman, C., & Vallina, H. (2012). Colorectal cancer screening among Chinese American Immigrants. *Journal of Immigrant Minority Health*, *14*, 898-901. doi:10.1007/s10903-011-9559-1
- Kim, E., Coelho, D., & Blachier, F. (2013). Review of association between meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer. *Nutrition Research*, 33, 983-994. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2013.07.018
- Kissinger, L., Lorenzana, R., Mittl, B., Lasrado, M., Iwenofu, S., Olivo, V.,...Williams,
  A. H. (2010). Development of a computer-assisted personal interview doftware system for collection of tribal fish consumption data. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal, 30*(12), 1833-1841. doi:10.111/j.1539-6924.2010.01461.x
- Klabunde, C., Cronin, K., Breen, N., Waldron, W., Ambs, A., & Nadel, M. (2011).
  Trends in colorectal cancer test use among vulnerable populations in the United
  States. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 20*(8), 1-11.
  doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0220
- Kushi, L., Doyle, C., McCullough, M., Rock, C., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Bandera, E.,...Gansler, T. (2012). American Cancer Society guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: Reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. *Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 62*, 30-67. doi:10.3322/caac.20140

- Kwainoe, S. (n.d.). The truth about the impact of unskilled immigrants in America. Retrieved from https://www.iwu.edu/economics/PPE10/sam.pdf
- Ladabaum, U., Clarke, C., Press, D., Mannalithara, A., Myer, P., Cheng, L., & Gomez, S. (2014). Colorectal cancer incidence in Asian populations in California: Effect of nativity and neighborhood-level factors. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *109*, 579-588. doi:10.1038/ajg.2013.488
- Lai, D. W., & Surood, S. (2010). Types and factor structure of barriers to utilization of health services among aging south Asians in Calgary, Canada. *Canadian Journal* on Aging, 29, 249-258. doi:10.1017/S0714980810000188
- Laiyemo, A., Brawley, O., Irabor, D., Boutall, A., Ramesar, R., & Madiba, T. (2016).
  Towards colorectal cancer control in Africa. *International Journal of Cancer*, 15, 138(4), 1033-1034. doi:10.1002/ijc.29843
- Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I., Kuntz, K. M., Knudsen, A. B., Van Ballegooijen, M., Zauber, A., & Jemal, A. (2012). Contribution of screening and survival differences to racial disparities in colorectal cancer rates. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention, 21*(5), 728-736. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-0023
- Larsson, S., Giovannucci, E., & Wolk, A. (2005). Diabetes and colorectal cancer incidence in the cohort of Swedish men. *Diabetes Care, 28*(7), 1805-1807.
  Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15983343
- Lebrun, L. (2012). Effects of length of stay and language proficiency on health care experiences among immigrants in Canada and the United States. *Social Science and Medicine*, *74*, 1062-1072. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.031
Lebrun, L., & Dubay, L. (2010). Access to primary and preventive care among foreignborn adults in Canada and the United States. *Health Services Research*, 45, 1693-1719. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2010.01163.x

Lee, J. E., & Chan, A.T. (2011). Fruit, vegetables, and folate: Cultivating the evidence for cancer prevention. *Gastroenterology*, 141, 16-20. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.05.020

- Lee, Y. H., Ju, E., Vang, P. D., & Lundquist, M. (2010). Breast and cervical cancer screening among Asian American women and Latinos: Does race/ethnicity matter? *Journal of Women's Health*, 19(10), 1877-1884. doi:10.1089/jwh.2009.1783
- Lee, H. Y., & Vang, S. (2010). Barriers to cancer screening in Hmong Americans: The influence of health care accessibility, culture, and cancer literacy. Journal of Community Health, 35, 302-314. doi:10.1007/s10900-010-9228-7
- Lee, S., & Lee, E. (2013). Korean Americans' beliefs about colorectal cancer screening. *Asian Nursing Research*, 7, 45-52. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2012.10.001
- Lee, S., Nguyen, H., & Tsui, J. (2011). Interview language: A proxy measure for acculturation among Asian Americans in a population-based survey. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 13(2), 244-252. doi:10.1007/s10903-009-9278-z
- Levin, B., Lieberman, D., McFarland, B., Smith, R., Brooks, D., Andrews,K.,...Winawer, S. (2008). Screening and surveillance for the early detection ofcolorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: A joint guideline from the

American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on colorectal cancer, and the American College of Radiology, *Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 58*, doi:10.3322/CA.2007.0018

- Li, F., & Lai, M. (2009). Colorectal cancer, one entity or three. *Journal of Zhejian University Science*. *10*(3), 219-229. doi:10.1631/jzus.B0820273
- Liss, D. & Baker, D. (2014). Understanding current racial/ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening in United States: Contribution of socioeconomic status and access to care. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 46(3), 228-236. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.023
- Lopez-Class, M., Luta, G., Noone, A., Canar, J., Selksy, C., Huerta, E., & Mandelblatt, J. (2012). Patient and provider factors associated with colorectal cancer screening in Safety Net Clinics serving low-income, urban immigrant Latinos. *Journal of Health Care for Underserved*, 23(3). doi:10.1353/hpu.2012.0109
- Luo, Z., Bradley, C., Dahman, B., & Gardiner, J. (2009). Colon cancer treatment costs for Medicare and dually eligible beneficiaries. *Health Care Financing Review*, 31(1), 35-50. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2832226/
- Lutgens, M., Van Oijen, M., Van der Heijden, G., Vleggaar, F., Siersema, P., & Oldenburg, B. (2013). Declining risk in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. *Inflammatory Bowel Disease*, *19*, 789-799. doi:10.1097/MIB.0b013e31828029c0

- Ma, Y., Yang, Y., Wang, F., Zhang, P., Shi, C., Zou, Y., & Qin, H. (2013). Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Plos One*, 8(1), e53916. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053916
- Macorr Research Solutions (2013). Sample size methodology. Retrieved from http://www.macorr.com/sample-size-methodology.htm
- Marcella, S., & Miller, J. (2001). Racial differences in colorectal cancer mortality: The importance of stage and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 54, 359-366. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11297886
- Maskarinec, G., & Noh, J. (2004). The effect of migration on cancer incidence among Japanese in Hawaii. *Ethnicity and Disease*, 14, 431-439. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15328946
- Maxwell, A., Crespi, C., Antonio, C., and Lu, P. (2010). Explaining disparities in colorectal cancer screening among five Asian groups: A population-based study in California. *Biomedcentral Cancer*, *10*(214), 1-9. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-10-214
- McDonald, J. T., & Kennedy, S. (2004). Insights into "healthy immigrant effect": Health status and health service use of immigrants to Canada. *Social Science & Medicine*, 59, 1613-1627. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.02.004
- McLeod, S. (2013). What is validity? Retrieved from https://simplypsychology.org/validity.html
- McRee, A. J., & Goldberg, R. M. (2011). Optimal management of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Drugs*, 71(7), 869-884. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.176230

- Mellner, C., & Lundberg, U. (2003). Self- and physician-rated general health in relation to symptoms and diseases among women. *Psychology, Health, and medicine,* 8(2), 123-134. doi:10.1080/1354850031000087500
- Morris, S., Sutton, M., & Gravelle, H. (2004). Inequity and inequality in the use of healthcare in England: An empirical investigation. *Social Science and Medicine*, 60(6), 1251-1266. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.07.016
- Murphy, G., Shu, X., Gao, Y., Ji, B., Cook, M., Yang, G.,... Chow, W. (2009). Family cancer history affecting risk of colorectal cancer in a prospective cohort of Chinese women. *Cancer Causes and Control, 20*(8), 1517-1521. doi:10.1007/s10552-009-9353-8
- Nandi, A., Galea, S., Lopez, G., Nandi, V., Strongarone, S., & Ompad, D. C. (2008).
  Access to and use of health services among undocumented Mexican immigrants in a US urban area. *American Journal of Public Health*, *98*, 2011-2020. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2006.096222
- National Center for Health Statistics. (n.d.). About the National health interview survey. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/about\_nhis.htm
- National Cancer Institute.(n.d.-b). Cancer classification. Retrieved from https://training.seer.cancer.gov/disease/categories/classification.html
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.-a). Surveillance, epidemiology and end result program. Retrieved from https://seer.cancer.gov/
- National Health Interview Series. (n.d.). IPUMS Health Surveys. Retrieved from https://ihis.ipums.org/ihis/

Ndukwe, E., Williams, K., & Sheppard, V. (2013). Knowledge and perspective of breast and cervical cancer screening among female African immigrants in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 28, 748-754. doi:10.1007/s13187-013-0521-x

Nemeth, L. S., Jenkins, R. G., Nietert, P. J., & Ornstein, S. M. (2011). Colorectal cancer screening in primary care: Theoretical model to improve prevalence in the practice partner research network. *Health Promotion Practice*, *12*(2), 229-234. doi:10.1177/1524839909332139

- Padilla, Y. C., & Villalabos, G. (2007). Cultural responses to health among Mexican
  American women and their families. *Family and Community Health*, 30, 24-33.
  Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17159629
- Papageorge, C., Carchman, E., & Kennedy, G. (2016). Predictors of late stage presentation of colorectal cancer. *Journal of American College of Surgeons*, 223(4), e173. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.08.439
- Pelucchi, C., Tramacere, I., Bofetta, P., Negri, E., & Vecchia, C. (2011). Alcohol consumption and cancer risk. *Nutrition and Cancer*, *63*(7), 983-990. doi:10.1080/01635581.2011.596642
- Purnell, J., Katz, M., Andersen, B., Palesh, O., Figueroa-Moseley, C., Jean-Pierre, P., & Bennett, N. (2010). Social and cultural factors are related to perceived colorectal cancer screening benefits and intensions in African Americans. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(1), 24-34. doi:10.1007/s10865-009-9231-6

Ransford, H. E., Carrillo, F., & Rivera, Y. (2010). Health care-seeking among Latino immigrants: Blocked access, use of traditional medicine, and the role of religion. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 21*, 862-878. doi:10.1353/hpu.0.0348

Rauscher, G. H., Johnson, T. P., Cho, Y. I., & Walk, J. A. (2008). Accuracy of selfreported cancer-screening histories: A Meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention*, 17, 748-757. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-2629

- Raymond-Flesch, M., Siemons, R., Pourat, N., Jacobs, K., & Brindis, C. D. (2014).
  "There is no help out there and if there is, it's really hard to find": A qualitative study of the health concerns and health care access of Latino "Dreamers". *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 55, 323-328. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.05.012
- Ren,J., Kirkness, C., Kim, M., Asche, C., & Puli, S. (2016). Long term risk of colorectal cancer by gender after positive colonoscopy: Population-based cohort study. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 32(8), 1367-1374. doi:10.1080/03007995.2016.1174840
- Renehan, A., Flood, A., Adams, K., Olden, M., Hollenbeck, A., Cross, A., & Leitzmann, M. (2012). Body mass index at different adult ages, weight change, and colorectal cancer risk in the National Institutes of Health-AARP Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *176*(12), 1130-1140. doi:10.1093/aje/kws192
- Rich, S., Kuyateh, F., Dwyer, D., Groves, C., & Steinberger, E. (2011). Trends in selfreported health care provider recommendations for colorectal cancer screening by

race. *Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *53*, 70-75. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.05.014

Rikke, D., Albieri, V., Tjonneland, A., Overvad, D., Kaae, K., & Raaschou-Nielsen, O. (2013). Effects of smoking and antioxidant micronutrients on risk of colorectal cancer. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *11*(4), 406-411. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2012.10.039

- Rockey, D., Paulson, M., Niedzwiecki, D., Davis, W., Bosworth, H., Sanders,
  L.,...Halvorsen, R. (2005). Analysis of air contrast barium enema, computed
  tomographic colonography, and colonoscopy: Prospective comparison. *Lancet*,
  365(9456), 305-311. doi:10.1016/S0140-67369(05)17784-8
- Ross, J., Bradley, E., & Busch, S. (2006). Use of healthcare services by lower income and higher income uninsured adults. *American Medical Association*, 295(17), 2027-2036. doi:10.1001/jama.295.17.2027

Rothwell, P., Wilson, M., Elwin, C., Norrving, B., Algra, A., Warlow, C., & Meade, T. (2010). Long term effect of aspirin on colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: 20 year follow-up of five randomized trials. *The Lancet, 376* (9754), 1741-1750. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61543-7

Samadder, N., Curtin, K., Tuohy, T., Rowe, K., Mineau, G., Smith, K.,...Burt, R. (2014). Increased risk of colorectal neoplasia among family members of patients with colorectal cancer: A population based study in Utah. *Gastroenterology*, 147(4), 814-821. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.006

- Sambamoorthi, U., & McAlpine, D. (2003). Racial, ethnic, socioeconomic, and access disparities in the use of preventive services among women. *Preventive Medicine*, 37(5), 475-484. doi:10.1016/S00917435(03)001725
- Sameer, A. S., Nissar, S., & Fatima, K. (2014). Mismatch repair pathway: molecules, functions, and role in colorectal carcinogenesis. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention, 23*, 246-257. doi:10.1097/CEJ.000000000000019
- Sanz, B., Regidor, E., Galindo, S., Pascual, C., Lostao, L., Diaz, J. M., & Sanchez, E.
  (2011). Pattern of health services use by immigrants from different region of the world residing in Spain. *International Journal of Public Health*, 56, 567-576. doi:10.1007/s00038-011-0237-9
- Schmid, D., & Leitzmann, M. (2014). Television viewing and time spent sedentary in relation to cancer risk: A meta-analysis. *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, 106 (7), 1-19. doi:10.1093/jnci/dju098
- Schoen, R., Pinsky, P., Weissfeld, J., Yokochi, L., Church, T., Laiyemo, A.,...Berg., C. (2012). Colorectal cancer incidence and mortality with screening flexible sigmoidoscopy. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*, 2345-2357. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1114635
- Shahidi, N., Homayoon, B., & Cheung, W. (2013). Factors associated with suboptimal colorectal cancer screening in US immigrants. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 36(4), 381-387. doi:10.1097/COC.0b013e318248da66

- Shavers, V. L., Jackson, M. C., & Sheppard, V. B. (2010). Racial/ethnic patterns of uptake of colorectal cancer screening: National Health Interview Survey 2000-2008. Journal of National Medical Association, 102(7), 621-635. Retrieved from http://66.101.212.31/~nma2010/publications/July2010/OC621.pdf
- Shikata, K., Ninomiya, T., Kiyohara, Y. (2012). Diabetes mellitus and cancer risk: Review of the epidemiological evidence. *Cancer Science*, 104(1), 9-14. doi:10.1111/cas.12043
- Shih, Y., Elting, L., & Levin, B. (2008). Disparities in colorectal screening between USborn and foreign-born populations: Evidence from the 2000 National Health Interview Survey. *Journal of Cancer Education, 23*, 18-25. doi:10.1080/08858190701634623
- Shokar, N., Carlson, C., & Weller, S. (2008). Factors associated with racial/ethnic differences in colorectal cancer screening. *Journal of American Board of Family Medicine*, 21, 414-426. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2008.05.070266
- Siegel ,R., Jemal, A., & Ward, E.(2009). Increase in incidence of colorectal cancer among young men and women in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 18*, 1695-1698. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0186
- Siegel, R., Naishadham, D., & Jemal, A. (2012). Cancer Statistics for Hispanics/Latinos,
  2012. Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 62(5), 283-298. doi:10.3322/caac.21153
- Singleton, B. A., & Straits, B. C. (2005). *Approaches to social research*. (4th Ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University Press

- Skinner,S.A., & O'Brien, P. E.(1996). The micro-vascular structure of the normal colon in rats and humans. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 61(2), 482-490. doi:10.1006/jsre.1996.0151
- Slifkin, R. T. (2002). Developing policies responsive to barriers to health care among rural dwellers: What do we need to know? *Journal of Rural Health*, *18*, 233-241. doi:10.1111/j.1748-0361.2002.tb00933.x
- Soneji, S., Armstrong, K., & Asch, D. (2012). Socioeconomic and physician supply determinants of racial disparities in colorectal cancer screening. *American Society* of Clinical Oncology, 8(5), 125-134. doi:10.1200/JOP.2011.000511
- Song, M., Garret, W., Chan, A. (2015). Nutrients, foods, and colorectal cancer prevention. *Gastroenterology*, 148, 1244-1260. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.12.035
- Statistics Solutions (n.d.). Chi-Square test of independence. Retrieved from http://www.statisticssolutions.com/non-parametric-analysis-chi-square/
- Stein, J., Andersen, R., & Gelberg, L. (2007). Applying the Gelberg-Andersen behavioral model for vulnerable populations to health services utilization in homeless women. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *12*, 791-804. doi:10.1177/1359105307080612
- Stimpson, J., Pagan, J., & Chen, L. (2012). Reducing racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening is likely to require more than access to care. *Health Affairs*, 31, 2747-2754. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1290

- Suresh, K., Suresh, G., & Thomas, S. V. (2012). Design and data analysis 1 study design. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology, 15(2), 76-80. doi:10.4103/0972-2327.94987
- Szwarcwald, C. L., Souza-Junior, P., & Damacena, G. N. (2010). Socio-economic inequalities in the use of outpatient services in Brazil according to health care need: Evidence from the World Health Survey. *BMC Health Services Research*, *10*(217), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-10-217
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2001). *Using multivariate statistics (4<sup>th</sup> ed.)*. Needham Heights, MA, Allyn & Bacon
- Talaat, N. (2015). Adherence and barriers to colorectal cancer screening varies among Arab Americans from different countries of origin. *Arab Journal of Gastroenterology*, 16, 116-120. doi:10.1016/j.ajg.2015.07.003
- Tariq, K., & Ghias, K. (2016). Colorectal cancer carcinogenesis: a review of mechanisms. *Cancer Biol Med*, 13, 120-135. doi:10.28092/j.issn.2095-3941.2015.0103
- Taylor, C. (2017). What is the difference between alpha and p-values? Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/the-difference-between-alpha-and-p-values-3126420
- Toll, A., Fabius, D., Hyslop, T., Pequignot, E., DiMarino, A., Infantolino, A., & Palazzo,
   J. (2011). Prognostic significance of high grade dysplasia in colorectal adenomas.
   *Colorectal Disease, 13*(4), 370-373. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1318.2010.02385.x

- Tung, W., Nguyen, D., & Tran, T. (2008). Applying the transtheoretical model to cervical cancer screening in Vietnamese-American women. *International Nursing Review*, 55, 73-80. doi:10.1111/j.1466-7657.2007.00602.x
- United States Census Bureau. (2014). African born population in U.S. roughly doubles every decade since 1970, Census Bureau reports. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2014/cb14-184.html
- United States Preventive Services Task Force. (2016). Colorectal cancer screening. Retrieved from https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/
- United States Preventive Services Task Force. (n. d.). Colorectal cancer screening. Retrieved from

https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/Recommendation StatementFinal/colorectal-cancer-screening2#consider

- Vogelaar, I., van Ballegooijen, M., Schrag D, Boer, R., Winawer, S., Habbema, J & Zauber, A. (2006). How much can current interventions reduce colorectal cancer mortality in the U.S.? *Cancer*, 107, 1624-1633. doi:10.1002/cncr.22115
- Vu, H., Ufere, N., Yan, Y., Wang, J., Early, D., & Elwing, J. (2014). Diabetes mellitus increases risk for colorectal adenomas in younger patients. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 20(22), 6946-6952. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i22.6946

- Wallace, P., & Suzuki, R. (2012). Regional, racial, and gender differences in colorectal cancer screening in middle-aged African-Americans and Whites. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 27, 703-708. doi:10.1007/s13187-012-0396-2
- Wang, J., Moehring, J., Stuhr, S., & Krug, M. (2013). Barriers to colorectal cancer screening in Hispanics in the United States: An integrated interview. *Applied Nursing Research*, 26, 218-224. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2013.08.005
- Wei, Y., Lu, J., Wang, L., Lan, P., Zhao, H., Pan, Z., ... Wang, J. (2009). Risk factors for sporadic colorectal cancer in Southern Chinese. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 15(20), 2526-2530. doi:10.3748/wjg.15.2526
- Wilder, J., & Wilson, J. (2016). Racial and ethnic disparities in colon cancer screening in North Carolina. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 77(3), 185-186. doi:10.18043/ncm.77.3.185
- Williams, A., Dabney, K., & Holmes, L. (2013). Health disparities in colorectal cancer screening in the United States: Race/ethnicity or shifting paradigms? *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 6, 107-123. Retrieved from https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/vol6/iss2/8/
- White, A., Vernon, S., Franzini, L., & Du, X. (2011). Racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening persisted despite expansion of Medicare's screening reimbursement. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 20*(5), 811-817. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0963
- Wong, H., Peters, U., Hayesa, R. B., Huanga, W., Schatzkina, A., Bresalierd, R. S.,... Brody, L.C. (2010). Polymorphisms in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC)

gene and advanced colorectal adenoma risk. *European Journal of Cancer, 46*, 2457-2466. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2010.04.020

- World Health Organization (2012). Cancer: fact sheet no. 297. Geneva: WHO, 2012. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/
- Yabroff, K., Lund, J., Kepka, D., & Mariotto, A. (2011). Economic burden of cancer in the US: Estimates, projections and future research. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 20*(10), 2006-2014. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0650
- Yabroff, K., Warren, L., Schrag, D., Mariotto, A., Meekins, A., Topor, M., & Brown, M. (2009). Comparisons of approaches for estimating incidence costs of care for colorectal cancer patients. *Medical Care.* 47(7), 56-63. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181a4f482
- Yan, S. (2014). Why the Rich ditch their home country. Retrieved from http://money.cnn.com/2014/06/01/luxury/wealthy-tax-residence/index.html
- Yang, P., & Hwang, S. (2016). Explaining Immigrant health services utilization: A theoretical framework. SAGE, 1-15. doi:10.1177/2158244016648137
- Ye, J., Mack, D., Fry-Johnson, Y., & Parker, K. (2012). Health care access and utilization among US-born and foreign-born Asian Americans. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 14, 731-737. doi:10.1007/s10903-011-9543-9
- Zauber, A., Winawer, S., O'Brien, M., Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I., Van Ballegooijen, M., Hankey, B.,...Waye, J. (2012). Colonoscopic polyectomy and long-term

prevention of colorectal cancer deaths. *New England Journal of Medicine, 366,* 687-696. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1100370

Zhao, J., Zhu, Y., Wang, P., West, R., Buehler, S., Sun, Z., ... Pafrey, P.(2012).
Interaction between alcohol drinking and obesity in relation to colorectal cancer risk: A case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(94), 471-2458. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-94

## Appendix A: Walden Institutional Review Board Approval

IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu>

Reply all| Tue 12/19/2017, 5:43 PM Chidoziri Chibundu; Frazier Benjamin B. Beatty Dear Mr. Chibundu,

This email is to notify you that the Institutional Review Board (IRB) confirms that your doctoral capstone entitled, "Factors affecting colorectal cancer screening among African born immigrants living in the United States," meets Walden University's ethical standards. Since this project will serve as a Walden doctoral capstone, the Walden IRB will oversee your capstone data analysis and results reporting. Your IRB approval number is 12-19-17-0324956.

This confirmation is contingent upon your adherence to the exact procedures described in the final version of the documents that have been submitted to IRB@mail.waldenu.eduas of this date. This includes maintaining your current status with the university and the oversight relationship is only valid while you are an actively enrolled student at Walden University. If you need to take a leave of absence or are otherwise unable to remain actively enrolled, this is suspended.

If you need to make any changes to the project staff or procedures, you must obtain IRB approval by submitting the IRB Request for Change in Procedures Form. You will receive confirmation with a status update of the request within 10 business days of submitting the change request form and are not permitted to implement changes prior to receiving approval. Please note that Walden University does not accept responsibility or liability for research activities conducted without the IRB's approval, and the University will not accept or grant credit for student work that fails to comply with the policies and procedures related to ethical standards in research.

When you submitted your IRB materials, you made a commitment to communicate both discrete adverse events and general problems to the IRB within 1 week of their occurrence/realization. Failure to do so may result in invalidation of data, loss of academic credit, and/or loss of legal protections otherwise available to the researcher.

Both the Adverse Event Reporting form and Request for Change in Procedures form can be obtained at the IRB section of the Walden website:<u>http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec</u>

You are expected to keep detailed records of your capstone activities for the same period of time you retain the original data. If, in the future, you require copies of the originally submitted IRB materials, you may request them from Institutional Review Board.

Both students and faculty are invited to provide feedback on this IRB experience at the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=qHBJzkJMUx43pZegKImdiQ\_3d\_3d

Sincerely, Libby Munson Research Ethics Support Specialist Office of Research Ethics and Compliance Walden University 100 Washington Avenue South, Suite 900 Minneapolis, MN 55401 Email: irb@mail.waldenu.edu Phone: (612) 312-1283 Fax: (626) 605-0472